(% 2 £ @ 15 R A A )

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

@ UPBEST GROUP LIMITED

(RBISRERMRIZBMRAT) Stock code RV - 335

Annual Reioort 26 18 &



CONTENTS
B S -

Corporate Information

RRAER b . gt
Financial Highlights :
“BHRE s _ . 4
* Chairman’s Statement '
IFHE . 5
Management Discussion and Analysis '
B IEJE u—.r Gl & 7fﬁ ' 9
. Biography of Directors and Senior Management
EEREREREEH 13
Report of the Diréctors a
SRS iz
Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE _29
Environmental, Social and Governance Report <
B HEREARE ) 44
Independent Auditor’s Report '
B EA RS 54
Consolidated Income Statement
fma s R : 61
Consolidated Statement of Comprehenswe Income 1
merEkEx 62
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
et E - . 63
*Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows -
meaRemndx 65
Consolldated Statement of Changes in Equity
N E\_“@Ji‘% ; 67.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements / . i
BABERANE 68
Schedule of Properties ) L S

MR ; 136 .



CORPORATE INFORMATION

~ 7 B M

Board of Directors
Non-Executive Directors

Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman)
Dr. SZE Ping Fat

Executive Directors

Ms.CHENG Wai Ling, Annie, ACA, CPA
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew

Mr. MOK Kwai Hang

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, CPA

Mr. POON Kai Tik

Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan, CPA (Australia)

Company Secretary
Mr. YUEN Shing Him, CPA
(appointed on 1%t March, 2018)
Mr. LI Chi Chung
(resigned on 1t March, 2018)

Auditors
Li, Tang, Chen & Co.

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Audit Committee

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, CPA (Chairman)

Mr. POON Kai Tik
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan, CPA (Australia)

Remuneration Committee

Mr. POON Kai Tik (Chairman)

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, CPA

Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan, CPA (Australia)
Ms.CHENG Wai Ling, Annie, ACA, CPA

Nomination Committee

Mr. POON Kai Tik (Chairman)

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, CPA

Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan, CPA (Australia)
Ms.CHENG Wai Ling, Annie, ACA, CPA

Principal Banker
OCBC Wing Hang Bank, Limited

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 48 W 47 W 2 )

g
FHITES
RERELE(LE)
ERAB L

HITES

E{Z35/ME - ACA, CPA
BEREE

EHeLE

BUEHTES

RR&E %L E - CPA
ERHE A

&£ 0 CPA (Australia)

AARE
# AR5+ CPA

(RZZE-N\F=A—BEZME)

FERBEE

(RZZE-N\F=A—BEI)

B
EBRRHHEHH
ES ol

EREES

BRR& S L - CPA(ERE)
BRI

&£ - CPA (Australia)

FMEES

ERGELE (FE)
RR&EEL  CPA
&% & 0 CPA (Australia)
{835 /\H - ACA, CPA

REZEE

ERGELE (FE)
BRE&EEL  CPA
&% & 0 CPA (Australia)
{832 /\H - ACA, CPA

EFEERRT
EFKFRITERAF



Stock Code
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 335

Website
http://www.upbest.com

Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong
2nd Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre

300 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

Registered Office
P.0. Box 309
Ugland House
Grand Cayman
KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

Cayman Islands Principal Registrar
SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited

Royal Bank House — 3rd Floor

24 Shedden Road

P.O Box 1586

Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Registrar
Tricor Standard Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

CORPORATE INFORMATION

~ 7 B M

BREAR
ERMAXHM - 335

At

http://www.upbest.com

EBTEEXENE
)

&% 8 " 3005%
ERBERL2AE

AMHEE
P.0O. Box 309
Ugland House
Grand Cayman
KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

RENETERVBFELRE
SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
Royal Bank House — 3rd Floor
24 Shedden Road

P.O Box 1586

Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

EBRODBFELEDE
FEREBRAT

N

ERANEFR183%

B R 201

Annual Report 2018 F#



4

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

M B R E

(In HK$'000) (BB FTBENMN) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
OPERATING RESULTS 2EMNR
Revenue Wz 124,642 317,515 443,398 259,467 83,927
Profit for the year attributable to RRRE=RRFAA
equity holders of the Company 15 5 P38 163,603 225867 518,309 315407 164,910
Earnings per share - Basic FROEN — &R
HK cents Al 6.1 8.4 19.3 11.8 6.2
FINANCIAL POSITION RN
Total assets EERAE 2,713,372 2,640,888 2,380,129 2,131,248 1,776,933
Net assets EEFE 2,491,167 2,370,912 2,188,579 1,763,058 1,496,535
Total liabilities BfERE 222205 269,976 191,550 368,190 280,398
SEGMENT INFORMATION oA R
- SEGMENT REVENUE - DHWE
Broking mie 11,307 9,359 15,186 10,974 10,274
Financing B 7% 77,307 64,539 49,326 33,934 26,408
Corporate finance TERE 16 15,054 38 1,527 4,023
Assets management BEEE 2,565 4,293 2,726 10,900 1,739
Property investment MERE 25,912 26,764 28,848 19,348 18,415
Precious metal trading E¢BEE 7,535 197,506 347,274 182,784 23,068
Investment holding REER - - - - -
— SEGMENT RESULTS - DEEE
Broking e 1,162 (328) 3,870 849 (854)
Financing B 7% 68,371 55,317 42,937 27,848 19,726
Corporate finance rERE 7 11,421 31 1,397 3,954
Assets management BEER 1,552 3,214 1,739 9,881 855
Property investment MERE 20,562 21,896 23,118 14,939 14,130
Precious metal trading E¢EEE (703) (930) (902) (456) (1,131)
Investment holding BEER - - - - -

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 48 W 47 W 2 )



Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present to
you the results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31t March, 2018.

Financial and Business Review

During the financial year 2018, the Group recorded the profit
of approximately HK$163.6 million, which was lower than the
approximately HK$225.9 million recorded in the preceding year. The
decrease in profit recorded was mainly resulted from the increase in
the provision of impairment loss on trade receivables amounted to
approximately HK$34.9 million (2017: HK$1.9 million) and the reduced
net increase in fair value gain amounted to HK$115.0 million (2017:
HK$150.0 million) recognised by the investment properties during the
financial year. Excluding the effect of non-recurring items above, the
Group recorded the profit of approximately HK$83.5 million, which was
approximately 7.4% higher than the approximately HK$77.7 million
recorded in the preceding year.

During the current financial year, our broking and financing segments,
having benefited from the general upturn of major economies, recorded
a significant revenue of approximately HK$88.6 million, representing an
increase by approximately 19.9% when compared with the preceding
year.

Furthermore, our property investment segment also recorded significant
results in both revenue and segment results during the year, accounted
for approximately HK$25.9 million and HK$20.6 million respectively.
Our strong property investment segment is able to provide stable rental
income to our Group with notable capital appreciation of our investment
properties.

Market Review

In 2017, uncertainties were permeated the market against the
implementation of trade, fiscal and foreign policies following the new
administration in United States and general elections in Europe. In
addition, the Brexit program officially launched by UK and the plan to
interest rate normalization by Fed also put pressure on global trade and
exchange rates of emerging economies.
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Nevertheless, global economies and financial markets generally
performed well during the financial year 2018: Economic growth in the
United States has been accelerated; Political uncertainties removed
after the general elections in France and Germany; The economic
performance of the Asian and other emerging economies beat market
expectation.

The strong economic growth helps to subdue market volatility and raise
confidence of investors. The Hang Seng index rose more than 35%
year-to-date, and crossed the 30,000 points for the first time since year
2007. As at the year ended 31t March, 2018, the Hang Seng Index was
30,093, an increase of 25% comparing with last year. For the period
from April 2017 to March 2018, the average daily turnover amount to
HK$106 billion, an 125.5% increase compared with HK$47 billion in
corresponding period of last year.

Broking

The broking segment improved amid bullish sentiment in stock
market. During the financial year, there was an increase in market
turnover of the securities market in Hong Kong, this segment enjoyed
an operating profit of approximately HK$1,162,000 when comparing
with an operating loss of approximately HK$328,000 in the preceding
year. Revenue from securities and futures broking increased to
approximately HK$11.3 million from approximately HK$9.4 million, an
approximately 20.8% increase which was related to the increase in the
turnover of the Hong Kong securities market.

Financing

The segment revenue of approximately HK$77.3 million and operating
profit of approximately HK$68.4 million both recorded an increase
when compared with preceding financial year. This segment significant
results were mainly derived from a substantial increase in our money
lending business by utilizing our rich cash reserves. During the year,
our group stepped up touting loan packages to keen investors. This
segment result of approximately HK$68.4 million was approximately
23.6% higher than preceding year of approximately HK$55.3 million.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 48 W 47 W 2 )
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Corporate Finance and Asset Management

During the financial year 2018, in addition to our Group’s main
contributor of brokerage and finance segment, our directors contributed
extra effort in the property segment which aims to mitigate the business
risk of securities market uncertainties and derive a long term and
sustainable economic benefit to the Group. As a result of the Group’s
business strategy, during the current financial year, the corporate
finance segment’s revenue barely contributed approximately HK$16,000
when comparing to approximately HK$15.1 million in preceding year.

For the asset management segment, the revenue of approximately
HK$2.6 million in current financial year, a decrease by approximately
40.3%, which was mainly due to the decrease in performance fee
obtained during the year. The asset management segment in current
year contributed segment profit amounted to approximately HK$1.6
million which decreased by approximately 51.7% when comparing with
approximately HK$3.2 million in preceding year.

Property Investment

During the current financial year, the property investment segment,
which represented mainly rental income from property rental services,
contributed approximately HK$25.9 million. The operating results from
the segment was approximately HK$20.6 million which was similar to the
preceding year's approximately HK$21.9 million.

Property investment was one of our core business segments which
provides strong driving force to our Group during the current financial
year. Our strong property investment segment is able to provide stable
rental income to our Group with notable capital appreciation of our
investment properties.

As at the financial year 2018, the fair value of our investment properties
were accounted for approximately HK$1,511.0 million, with the net fair
value appreciation of approximately HK$115.0 million recorded during
the year.

Precious Metal Trading

During the current financial year, this segment loss was approximately
HK$0.7 million which was similar to the segment loss of approximately
HK$0.9 million in the preceding financial year.
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Administration Performance

The administrative and other operating expenses for the current
financial year amounted to approximately HK$26.3 million, a decrease
of approximately 13.2% when comparing with preceding year. There
was an increase of the administrative expenses to revenue ratio of
approximately 21.1% when comparing to approximately 9.6% in 2017.

Prospects

Looking ahead of 2018/19, we remain optimistic towards the equity
market. However, even though economy is expected to maintain
relatively fast growth, investors should be well-prepared for any
potential impacts from political uncertainties. At present, the geopolitical
issues, such as North Korean crisis, Catalonia independence
movement, the rise of terrorist activities, will continue to threaten the
financial markets and economic performance globally.

Moreover, the market may have underestimated certain risk factors
such as the accelerated pace of U.S. interest rate normalization due
to inflationary pressure, and the change in foreign trade policies
and protectionism by U.S. government towards China and other
countries. Such changes may trigger a negative impact on global trade
and economy. Also, the highly accommodative monetary environment
around the world is also reversing gradually, which might lead to
financial market volatilities.

Facing such complicated investment environment, our Group will
continue to work on prudence amid challenges and maintain a cautious
approach to regularly review and adjust our business strategies in
due occasion. We strive to look for other investment opportunities to
contribute a long term economic benefit of our shareholders.

Appreciation

The Board would like to thank the management of the Group and all
staff for their hard work and dedication, as well as shareholders of the
Company, the Group’s business partners and associates, bankers and
auditors for their supports to the Group.

On behalf of the Board

IP Man Tin, David
Chairman and
Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 25" June, 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31% March, 2018, the Group had bank balance and cash of
approximately HK$588.6 million (2017: HK$361.9 million) of which
approximately HK$10.0 million (2017: HK$10.0 million) were pledged
to bank for facilities granted to the Group. The Company has given
guarantees to the extent of HK$152.0 million (2017: HK$172.0 million)
to secure the facilities granted to subsidiaries. As at 31t March, 2018
the Group had available aggregate banking facilities of approximately
HK$168.0 million (2017: HK$188.0 million) of which HK$168.0 million
(2017: HK$162.0 million) was not utilized.

As at 31t March, 2018, the Group’s borrowings decreased from
approximately HK$28.1 million as at 31t March, 2017 to approximately
HK$3.6 million.

Gearing Ratio
As at 31t March, 2018,
approximately HK$3.6 million (2017: HK$28.1 million). The gearing

the amount of total borrowings was

being equal to approximately 0.1% (2017: 1.2%) of the net assets of
approximately HK$2,491.2 million (2017: HK$2,370.9 million).

Capital Structure
There was no significant change in the Group’s capital structure for the
year ended 31t March, 2018.

As at 31t March, 2018, the total equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$2,491.7 million (2017:
HK$2,371.5 million). The Group’s consolidated net assets per share as
at the reporting date was HK$0.93 (2017: HK$0.88).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group operates in Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC and majority
of transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), United
State dollars ("US$") and Macau Pataca. Foreign exchange risk arises
from commercial transactions, recognized assets and liabilities, which
are denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the
Group and the Company.

During the year, the Group mainly uses Hong Kong dollars,
Macau Pataca and United States dollars to carry out its business
transactions. The Board considers the foreign currency exposure is
insignificant.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE S W R 2 M

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31t March, 2018, the Group has pledged certain of its investment
properties with fair value of approximately HK$1,290.0 million (2017:
HK$1,185.0 million) to a bank to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at year ended 31¢t March, 2018, the Group has provided guarantee
to certain financial institutions as follow:

EEEEHT
R-ZEBE-NE=ZA=+—-B Fr£B4&
E#1,290,000,0008 L (Z T —+ F:

1,185,000,000/870) W& TR EMEDLE T
IBERTFAEE 2 —RBTHE -

HAREE
R-F-\F=A=+-AEERED  ~%H
BRUERTHERENT -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FTET FET
Guarantees given by the Company and its KA REMBRARABILE=H
subsidiaries to financial institutions in respect BTHBREBERIRGEER
of facilities to independent third parties 3,000 4,000
Guarantees given by the Company to financial KRR BEKB ARG T HEEIE
institutions in respect of facilities granted to ERUBREEE
subsidiaries 152,000 172,000
At the end of the reporting period, the directors do not consider it RIFHEHRA  EETRAAEBEERM A8
probable that a claim will be made against the Group under any of the 3| RE -

guarantees.

Of the above guarantees, the amount utilised by the subsidiaries at 31¢
March, 2018 is approximately HK$Nil (2017: approximately HK$26.0
million).

The Company has not recognised any deferred income in respect of

these guarantees as its fair value cannot be reliably measured and its
transaction price was HK$Nil (2017: HK$ Nil).

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 48 W 47 W 2 )
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31t March, 2018, the Group had 41 staff including those staff
of Macau (2017: 42). For the year ended 31 March, 2018, the staff
costs of the Group amounted to approximately HK$14.3 million (2017:
HK$14.5 million), 11.5% and 4.6% of the Group’s revenue in FY2018
and FY2017 respectively.

The Group continues to maintain and upgrade the capabilities of its
workforce by providing them with adequate and regular training in order
to enhance their technical skills and update their industry knowledge
with regards to laws and regulations.

The Group remunerates its employees mainly based on industry
practices, market remuneration and individual’s performance and
experience. On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus may be
granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s performance as well
as individual’s performance.

SHARE OPTION
The Company does not have share option scheme.

CREDIT CONTROL

The Group has been practicing tight credit control policy. A credit
committee composed of two executive Directors and other members
is responsible for overseeing the granting of credit facilities. Daily
operation of money lending will be guided by the stringent procedures
as prescribed by the internal control manual.

COMPLIANCE AND RISK STEERING COMMITTEE AND
STRATEGY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Group has established a Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
and a Strategy Management Committee which aims to maintain a good
corporate governance environment for the Group. The Board believed
that this will help to enhance the Group’s expanding process in the
future.

DIVIDENDS

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the AGM,
the Board has recommended the payment of a final dividends of HK1.8
cents per ordinary share (2017: HK1.8 cents per ordinary share) and a
special dividends of HK1.8 cents per share (2017: Nil) in respect of the
year ended 31t March, 2018 to all shareholders of the Company whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 14"
September, 2018. If approved, the payment of the final dividends and
special dividends will be made on or about 28" September, 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE S W R 2 M

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM”) will be
convened and held on Friday, 31t August, 2018. Notice of the AGM
will be published on the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and sent to the
shareholders of the Company together with the Company’s 2018 Annual
Report in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR THE AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
27" August, 2018 to Friday, 31t August, 2018, both days inclusive,
during which period no share transfers can be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 22,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 24" August, 2018.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR FINAL DIVIDENDS

AND SPECIAL DIVIDENDS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 12" September, 2018 to Friday, 14" September, 2018,
both dates inclusive, during which period no share transfers can be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividends and
special dividends, all transfers, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30
p.m. on Tuesday, 11" September, 2018.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 48 W 47 W 2 )
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

E E RS KRE

Non-Executive Director and Chairman

Mr. IP Man Tin, David (“Mr. Ip”), aged 72, is the chairman and
non-executive Director of the Company. He holds a Bachelor of Arts
Degree and Master’'s Degree in Public Administration. Mr. Ip is a
Chartered Marketer and a Certified Management Consultant. He has
more than 24 years of public administration and more than 14 years of
public company management experience in Hong Kong and Britain. He
has extensive consultancy experience across industry sectors. Mr. IP
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of New Island
Printing Holdings Limited (Stock code: 0377) on 5" November, 2010
and resigned on 25" September, 2014. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ip
does not hold directorship in any other listed public companies in Hong
Kong or overseas during the past three years and he does not hold any
other position with the Company and other members of the Group.

Non-Executive Director

Dr. SZE Ping Fat (“Dr. Sze"), aged 60, is a non-executive Director of
the Company. Dr. Sze is an Australian legal practitioner having obtained
the Doctorate in Juridical Science from Deakin Law School in Melbourne
as well as Master’s degrees in law from Trinity College Dublin, the
University of Leuven and the University of Sydney. He was appointed a
Justice of the Peace in and for New South Wales in 1996 and elected a
Member of the National Institute of Accountants (with a Master’s degree
in Professional Accounting from the University of Southern Queensland)
in 1997, a Visiting Fellow of Clare Hall in the University of Cambridge
in 2002, a Fellow of the Malaysian Institute of Arbitrators in 2003, a
Member of the Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners and a Fellow
of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in 2008, a Full Fellow of the
Society for Advanced Legal Studies in the University of London in 2009,
a Special Member of the International Association of Prosecutors (The
United Nations) in 2012 and a Member of the Magistrates’ Association
of Great Britain in 2015.

Dr. Sze specializes in criminal and commercial matters. Since 2007,
he has been a Visiting Professor of the IMO International Maritime Law
Institute (The United Nations). He has authored a treatise on carrier’s
liability, several monographs for The International Encyclopedia of
Laws, and more than 60 articles in the areas of public law, business
law and international trade law. Most recently, he was commissioned by
the University of Oxford to produce a biography of the late Sir Denys
Roberts, a former Chief Justice of Hong Kong. In 2005 and 2008, he
served as a PhD thesis examiner at Macquarie Law School in Sydney.
Save as disclosed above, Dr. Sze does not hold directorship in any
other listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years and he does not hold any other position with the Company
and other members of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Executive Directors

Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 39, is an executive
Director, Chief Executive Officer, member of the Remuneration
Committee and member of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
She is responsible for overseeing the daily operations of the Company.
Ms. Cheng received her bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
(Accounting and Finance) from the University of Hong Kong and is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Prior to
joining the Company, she had served with an international audit firm.
Save as disclosed above, Ms. Cheng does not hold directorship in
any listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years. Ms. Cheng is the sister of Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew,
an executive Director of the Company. She also holds directorships in
various subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (“Mr. Cheng”), aged 45, is an executive
Director of the Company. He obtained his bachelor’s degree from the
California State University, USA. He has over 20 years’ experience
in securities, corporate finance and direct investment. He is also an
executive director of UBA Investments Limited (Stock Code: 0768).
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cheng does not hold directorship in any
listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past
three years. He also holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Cheng is the brother of Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie, an
executive Director of the Company.

Mr. MOK Kwai Hang (“Mr. Mok”), aged 54, is an executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Mok is responsible for overseeing the daily operation
of the Company’s property segment. Mr. Mok received his Bachelor’s
Degree in Quantity Surveying from Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors, the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and
the Chartered Institute of Architectural Technologists. Prior to joining
the Company, he had served with Hip Hing Construction Company
Limited as Deputy General Manager (Commercial) involved in various
projects in Hong Kong and Macau and as associate director in Widnell
Limited involved in building and infrastructure projects in Hong Kong.
Saved as disclosed above, Mr. Mok has not held any other directorships
in other Hong Kong or overseas listed public companies in the last
three years. He also holds directorships in various subsidiaries of the
Company.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 48 W 47 W 2 )
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan (“Mr. Chan”), aged 51, is an independent
non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Chan holds two master degrees in
Practising Accounting and Business Law from Monash University,
Australia. Professionally, he is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, CPA Australia, The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in UK, The Hong Kong Institute of
Company Secretaries, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and is a
member of The Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. He is
also an associate of the Institute of Certified Management Accountants
of Australia, and The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers. He is awarded with
“Chartered Banker” by the Chartered Institute of Bankers in Scotland,
UK. Currently, he is a Standing Member and Convenor of Hong Kong
members of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of
Yunfu City of Guangdong Province, Vice Chairman and secretary general
of China Hong Kong Macau Boundary Crossing Bus Association, and
honorary standing director of Guangdong’s Association For Promotion
of Cooperation Among Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macau. Mr. Chan
was appointed as member of the Board of Review (Inland Revenue) of
HKSAR from 2009 to 2011. Currently, he is the managing director of
a transportation company which is a subsidiary of a listed company.
He is also an independent non-executive director and chairman of the
audit committee of UBA Investments Limited (Stock Code: 0768). Other
than as disclosed above, Mr. Chan holds no directorship in other public
companies listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas
now or in the past three years and he does not hold any other position
with the Company and other members of the Group.

Mr. POON Kai Tik (“Mr. Poon”), aged 65, is an independent
non-executive Director, member of the Audit Committee, Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and Chairman of the Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. Poon graduated from the University of Hong Kong
with a Bachelor Degree in Arts and a Master's Degree in Business
Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Having more
than 39 years of working experience, Mr. Poon is well respected across
industries, ranging from advertising, marketing to public relations. He
previously served as Head of Corporate Communications of the Hospital
Authority, assistant director of Corporate and Community Relations
of the Housing Authority and director of Government and Community
Engagement of the Link Real Estate Investment Trust (Stock code: 0823).
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Poon does not hold directorship in any
listed public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past three
years and he does not hold any other position with the Company and
other members of the Group.
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Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan (“Mr. Hui"), aged 39, is an independent
non-executive Director, member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Hui holds
Master degree in Practising Accounting, Master degree in Applied
Finance and a Bachelor degree in Business (Banking & Finance)
from Monash University, Australia. He is also a member of CPA
Australia. Mr. Hui has over 12 years of working experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and corporate finance. As at the date
of this report, he is an non-executive director of Huge China Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0428), and an independent non-executive director
of Prime Intelligence Solutions Group Limited (stock code: 8379). Save
as disclosed above, Mr. Hui does not hold directorship in any listed
public companies in Hong Kong or overseas during the past three years
and he does not hold any other position with the Company and other
members of the Group.

Company Secretary

Mr. YUEN Shing Him (“Mr. Yuen”), aged 32, is the company secretary
and the authorised representative of the Company. Mr. Yuen obtained a
Bachelor Degree of Business Administration (Honours) in Accountancy
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 7
years of experience in accounting, auditing and corporate finance.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 48 W 47 W 2 )
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board is pleased to present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 315 March, 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate finance
advisory, assets management, precious metal trading and property
investment.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and the prospect of the Company and a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position
are provided in the section “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion & Analysis” from pages 5 to 8 and pages 9 to 12 of this
annual report respectively. These discussion form part of this director’s
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company can be found throughout this annual report particularly in note
4 and note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. Environmental
policies and performance are discussed in the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” from pages 44 to 53 of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information by principal businesses and
geographical locations are set out in note 7(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March, 2018 are set out in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March, 2018 are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 61.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividends
of HK$1.8 cents per ordinary share and special dividends of HK$1.8
cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to the shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on
14" September, 2018.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out in

note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out below. This summary does not
form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

R

BRARARAZ BB FEENGRE P HFRERM
29 o

BBHE
NTRASERBELEMBFRECREREE
HEEIME - W BYIFERZRA M HHREK
Z BB o

During the year ended 31 March,
BEZA=1T-HLFE

(In HK$'000) (LB T BE 7) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Revenue g 124,642 317,515 443,398 259,467 83,927
Profit before taxation R 754 B 4 A 165,504 234,084 520,223 317,267 166,091
Income tax expense s X (1,921) (8,234) (2,022) (1,850) (1,435)
Profit for the year REEARRAIER
attributable to equity BB ARG
holders of the Company FRa 225,867 518,309 315,407 164,910
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEEEE
As at 31t March,
R=A=+-H
(In HK$'000) (LB F o BE ) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Total assets EERE 2,713,372 2,640,888 2,380,129 2,131,248 1,776,933
Total liabilities BERE (222,205) (269,976)  (191,550)  (368,190)  (280,398)
Net assets BEFE 2,491,167 2,370,912 2,188,579 1,763,058 1,496,535
RESERVES *E
Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the EBREAFEEANZ REERAQATEESTHIEIH
year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements. NG SRR FE30 ©

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 48 W 47 W 2 )



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the
share premium, contributed surplus, retained profits and proposed
final dividend under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The
share premium of the Company is available for paying dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles
of Association and provided that immediately following the distribution
of dividend the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. In accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association, dividends can be distributed out of the share premium,
contributed surplus, retained profits and proposed final dividend of the
Company which in aggregate amounted to approximately HK$424.4
million as at 315 March, 2018 (2017: HK$422.6 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31 March, 2018,
resulting an increase in net fair value amounting to approximately
HK$115.0 million (2017: HK$150.0 million) which has been recognised
in the consolidated income statement.

Details of these and other movements during the year in the property,
plant and equipment and investment properties are set out in notes 14
and 15 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BORROWINGS

Borrowings repayable within one year or on demand are classified as
current liabilities. A repayment analysis of borrowings is set out in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements. No interest was capitalised
by the Group during the year.

MAJOR CLIENTS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March, 2018, the Group’s five largest clients
accounted for in aggregate approximately 20% (2017: 70%) of the
Group’s revenue, of which no customer of the Group has contributed
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group (2017: of which the largest
client accounted for approximately 59% of the Group’s revenue).

The Group had no major suppliers due to the nature of the principal
activities of the Group.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholder of
the Company which to the knowledge of the Directors of the Company
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital have an
interest in the Group’s five largest clients.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Non-executive directors
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman)
Dr. SZE Ping Fat

Executive directors
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan

Mr. POON Kai Tik

Mr. HUI Man Ho, lvan

Brief biographical details in respect of the directors are set out in the
“Biography of directors and senior management” from pages 13 to 16 of
this annual report.

In accordance with Articles 116 of the Company’'s Articles of
Association, Mr. IP Man Tin, David, Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew and
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan shall retire by rotation from office at the Annual
General Meeting and being eligible, offers themselves for re-election at
the Annual General Meeting.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive Directors
lasts until his retirement by rotation as required by the Company’s
Articles of Association.

The Company received confirmation of independence in respect
of the year ended 31t March, 2018 from each of the independent
non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Revised Listing
Rules. Up to and as at the date of this report, the Company still
considers the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. During the year and up to the date of this report,
the Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 179 of Articles of Association of the Company provides that
every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him/her as a Director or other officer of the Company in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given
in his/her favour, or in which he is acquitted. Subject to the Cayman
companies law, if any Director or other person shall become personally
liable for the payment of any sum primarily due from the Company, the
Board may execute or cause to be executed any mortgage, charge,
or security over or affecting the whole or any part of the assets of the
Company by way of indemnity to secure the Director or person so
becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect of such liability.

In addition, the Company has taken out and maintained directors’
and officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover the certain legal actions brought against its directors
and officers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an eco-friendly corporation that
tries to reduce the impacts of its operation on the environment, and to
ensure our compliance of prevailing environmental protection laws and
regulations. For details, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” contained in this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group continues to ride on 6 key pillars on the six business
streams, being (i) Brokerage (securities and futures), (ii) Financing, (iii)
Corporate Financial Advisory, (iv) Assets Management, (v) Property
Investment and (vi) Precious Metal Trading.

Yet there is no specific customers or suppliers involved in the operation
of business, we maintain good working relationship to create value
for the Group. The Group also values the knowledge and skills of its
employees, and continues to provide favourable career development
opportunities for its employees.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the contracts described under the section headed “Connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions” below, no
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
Director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31t March, 2018, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO) or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein, or which are required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:
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Number of shares
Rt A
Personal
interests Family
(held as interests Percentage
beneficial (interest Corporate Other of issued
Name of Director owner) of spouse) interests interests Total  share capital
EPN5: FERE BEf
3 (REREAA) (BRER) EERR EfpER 2% RrAESM
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each AL RSRAE0.01ETZ
in the Company BBl
CHENG Wai Ling, Annie (Note 1) BeR ) - - 1,992721,496 - 1,992,721,49 74.29%
CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew (Note 1) B (i1 : - 199272149 - 1992721496 74.29%
MOK Kwai Hang (Note 2) EEE W) 1,200,000 1,394,190 = - 2,594,190 0.10%
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Note 1: As at 31t March, 2018, CCAA Group Limited (“CCAA”), an associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) of the Company,
was directly interested in 1,992,721,496 shares in, representing
approximately 74.29% of, the issued share capital of the Company.
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie and their
family members are the beneficiaries of the trust which assets include
interests in the entire issued share capital of CCAA and accordingly,
they are deemed to be interested in 1,992,721,496 shares and the entire
issued share capital of CCAA under the SFO.

Note 2: As at 31 March, 2018, Mr. MOK Kwai Hang, an executive Director of the
Company with his spouse together have beneficial interest in 2,594,190
shares of the Company.

At no time during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries or its
associated companies a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors or executives of the Company (including their spouse and
children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition in shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31t March, 2018, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which are required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or which are required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during the year was the Company, its ultimate holding
company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective
spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of,
the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31t March, 2018, the following persons or corporations, interest in
5% or more in the shares and underlying shares of the Company have
been notified to the Company and recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders’ interests in shares and short positions required to be kept
under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Number of shareholder

Number of shares held

RRARFAZRODREBRD 2ER

B3
K%

m 55

R_F-NF=A=t—H" T§‘J/\i%£l5’dﬁ
ﬁZ!KATfo R AR B {0 815% A £ 2 AR fn
mRARMAGARR  UAREES LAE K
BIEXVED 336157 E i T ERRRE LM

OB

Percentage of
total number of
shares in issued

BEREE FREBRRER HERTROBED L
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each RAREBREEOIETZ

in the Company EBR
CCAA (Note) CCAA (H17%) 1,992,721,496 74.29%

Note: ldentical to those disclosed above as “Directors’ and chief executives’
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 315t March, 2018, the Directors are not
aware of any other persons who have interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the
results of the Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed
by the Remuneration Committee annually.

REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as an agent for clients of the Company or its subsidiaries,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries repurchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year ended
31t March, 2018.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions undertaken by the Group are included in the transactions
set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements, certain
details of which are disclosed in compliance with the requirements of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements and have confirmed that the
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions have
been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate)
independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions during the year as set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements and confirmed that these transactions:

(i)  were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company;

(i) where applicable, were in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Company;

(iii) had been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and

(iv) have not exceeded the caps stated in the relevant announcement.

As disclosed in the joint announcement of the Company and UBA
Investments Limited (“UBA”, together with its subsidiaries as the “UBA
Group”) dated 26" January, 2016, various members of the Group
entered into certain conditional agreements with the UBA Group, which
would constitute continuing connected transactions (the “CCT”) on the
part of the Group for the years ending 31¢ March, 2017, 2018 and 2019.
The relevant resolutions of the Company approving the CCT have been
passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
30" March, 2016.
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CONFIRMATION FOR CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
A letter pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules has been issued
to the Board by the auditors of the Company confirming the matters
stated in Rule 14A.56 in respect of the above continuing connected
transactions for management agreement.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

PENSION SCHEME

The Group has operated a pension scheme under the rules and
regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately in an independently managed
fund. The Group has followed the minimum statutory contribution
requirements of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregate income.
The contributions, amounting HK$432,000 (2017: HK$449,000), are
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
incurred.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders under the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of
Association and the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process and internal control system of the Group.

As at 31% March, 2018, the Audit Committee of the Group is comprised
of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN Chung
Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan. Two of them
have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as prescribed by the Listing Rules. The
main duties of the Audit Committee include the review of the relationship
with external auditors of the Company, review of financial information of
the Group and oversight of the Group’s financial reporting system and
internal control procedures.
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Listing Rules have been amended by the Stock Exchange by
replacing the Code of Best Practice in Appendix 14 by a new Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code”) and adding a new
Appendix 23 on the requirements for a Corporate Governance Report to
be included in annual reports of Listed Issuers.

Pursuant to code provisions A.4.1 in respect of the service term of
directors, none of the existing non-executive directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is appointed for a specific term.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code.
However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement provisions under
article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors by Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. Upon enquiry by the Company, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

As at 31% March, 2018, none of the Directors and their associates
had any interests in an entity whose business competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s business.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the percentage of the
Company's shares which are in the hands of the public is not less than
25% of the Company's total number of issued shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 29 to 43 of this
Annual Report.
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AUDITORS
Messrs. Li, Tang, Chen & Co. acted as auditors of the Company for the
years ended 31% March, 2016, 2017 and 2018.

Messrs. Li, Tang, Chen & Co. retire and a resolution for their
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. IP Man Tin, David
Chairman and Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 25" June, 2018

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 48 W 47 W 2 )
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors of the Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”)
(the “Board”) is committed to maintain high standards of corporate
governance practices, which are crucial to the smooth, effective
and transparent operation of the Company and its ability to attract
investment, protect rights of shareholders and stakeholders, and
enhance shareholder value.

Corporate Governance Practices

This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices
and structures that were in place during the financial year ended 31¢
March, 2018, with specific reference to the principles and guidelines
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) issued by The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). In developing and
reviewing its corporate governance policies and practices, the
Company has sought to adopt a balanced approach.

Compliance with Corporate Governance Code

The Company complied with the code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules throughout year ended 31t March, 2018, except for the following.

Code Provision A.4.1

Pursuant to code provisions A.4.1 in respect of the service term of
directors, none of the existing non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) is appointed for a specific term.
This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code.
However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement provisions under
article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
specific enquiry by the Company, that they fully complied with the
Model Code throughout the year.

The Company has also established written guidelines regarding
securities transaction on no less exacting terms of the Model Code for
senior management and specific individual who may have access to
price sensitive information in relation to the securities of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Structure

With the assistance of the Compliance Department, the Board has
designed a proper corporate governance structure. Currently, there
are seven board committees, including Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee, Credit Committee, Executive
Committee, Compliance and Risk Steering Committee and Strategy
Management Committee. Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference. Executive Committee assists
the Group to set up business strategy and planning, and Credit
Committee oversees the granting of credit facilities. Compliance
and Risk Steering Committee maintains and promotes the fairness,
efficiency, competitiveness transparency and orderliness of the
Group’s business. Strategy Management Committee aims to review and
formulate the Group’s operations and business activities development.

Board Composition, Function and Practices

As at 31st March, 2018, the Board comprises of the chairman
(non-executive Director), one non-executive Director, three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. Mr. IP Man
Tin, David acts as chairman (“Chairman”) and non-executive Director of
the Board. Dr. SZE Ping Fat is a non-executive Director. Other executive
Directors are Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie, Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
and Mr. MOK Kwai Hang. There are three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI
Man Ho. Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan have
appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise. All
Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first General
Meeting after their appointment and are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and eligible for re-election in
accordance with the Company’s Articles and Association.

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise,
and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics
and integrity. The biographical details of each Director and senior
management are disclosed in pages 13 to 16 of this Annual Report.

Each independent non-executive Director has pursuant to the rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he is independent of the Company
and the Company also considers that they are independent.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other

material relationship) among members of the Board except that
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew is the brother of Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie.
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The Board, headed by the Chairman, is responsible for formulation
and approval of the Group’s development and business strategies and
policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, overseeing
the Group’s compliance with statutory and regulatory obligations,
scrutinizing the performance of the Group in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, financial reporting and ensuring
proper internal control, risk management have been implemented,
recommendation of dividend, and supervision of management in
accordance with the rules governing the meeting of the Board, articles
of association and rules governing the meeting of shareholders.

The executive Directors are responsible for day-to-day management of
the Company’s operations. They conduct regular meetings with the senior
management of the Company and its subsidiaries and associated companies,
at which operational issues and financial performance are evaluated.

Regular Board meetings are held no less than four times a year. Apart from
the regular Board meetings, the Chairman shall hold meetings with the
non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
without the presence of executive Directors at least once every year.

In respect of regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers are sent in full to all Directors in a timely manner and
at least three days before the intended date of a Board or board
committee meeting. Adequate information related to the issues are
also supplied for the Board and its committee to make decisions which
is for the best interests of the Group. Notice of at least fourteen days
are given to all Directors and all Directors have an opportunity to
attend. The Directors who cannot attend in person might through other
electronic means of communications to participate. Senior management
executives may, from time to time, be invited to attend the Board
meeting for making presentation and/or answering any queries that may
be raised by the Board.

The non-executive Directors would seek guidance and direction from
the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) and executive Directors
on the future business direction and strategic plans in order to gain
a comprehensive understanding of the business of the Company to
facilitate their exercise of independent judgment. The non-executive
Directors also reviewed the financial information and operational
performance of the Group on a regular basis.

During the financial year, the Board adopted the board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) with a view to achieving a sustainable
and balanced development of the Company. The Company views the
increasing board diversity as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In determining the composition of the Board, a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service are taken into account in respect of the diversity of
the Board. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and
candidates will be selected based on objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Final decisions to be
made by the Board will be based on each candidate’s attributes and
contributions to be made to the Board.
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Proceedings of the Board and Respective Board Committees
Meetings

The Company Secretary will assist the chairman of the Board and the
respective board committees in setting agenda for meetings, and each
Director is given an opportunity to include any matters to be transacted
in the agenda. Where any Director is considered to be having a conflict
of interest in any transactions, the Director concerned will not be
counted in the quorum of the relevant meeting.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and the respective board committees
are recorded in details. All draft minutes are circulated to all those
present at the meetings for comment before submission to the chairman
of the meetings for approval.

During the financial year ended 31t March, 2018, the Board held
6 Board meetings. Due notice and Board papers were given to all
Directors prior to the meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles
of association and the CG Code. Each individual member of the Board
and the respective Board committee at the Board and the respective
board committee meeting(s) held during the year and attendance of the
individual Directors are as follows:
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Attendance/Number of Meetings held

LERR/ BHEERE
Executive Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Annual

Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

E22 HNZEE ENZBE §MWzEE  R#ZEg RE
EEp? EE EE ] EE EE EE BERE
Total number of meetings ezny 6 4 4 1 1 1
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman) ERREE(ZE) 6 NATER  NATER  NATER  NATER 1
Dr. SZE Ping Fat BREET 6 N/A T A N/A T A NA TR NA N 1
Executive Directors YTES
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie Be%R A 6 4 NAPER 1 1 1
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew DERrE 6 4 NATER  NATMER  NATER 1
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang ERELE 6 4 NATER  NATER  NATER 1
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan RrkiEE 6 NATER 4 1 1 1
Mr. POON Kai Tik BRELA 6 N/A TE R 4 1 1 1
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan FERE 6 NATER 4 1 1 1
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure Directors’ contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant, the Company encourages Directors to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills and understanding of the business and markets
in which the Group operates. Directors are also provided with monthly
performance and position updates of the Group, and information such
as performance and key operational highlights to enable the Board
as a whole as well as each Directors to discharge their duties. For the
financial year ended 31 March, 2018, all Directors have participated
in appropriate continuous professional development and provided the
Company with their records of training. A summary of training records
provided by the current Directors is as follows:

Reading articles, newspapers,
journal and/or updates
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Attending trainings
and/or seminars

MEYE RE HEEER
Name of Directors EENE AR, SREHE BRI
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. IP Man Tin, David (Chairman) ERREL(TE) v v
Dr. SZE Ping Fat iR YN v v
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie BREmEE v/ v
Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew EEX/MA v v
Mr. MOK Kwai Hang ks v v
Independent Non-executive Directors B FEHITES
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan RRELE v 4
Mr. POON Kai Tik RN & v/ 4
Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan B e v v/

Company secretary

Company secretary is to ensure there is a good information flow within the
Board and between the Board and senior management, provides advice to
the Board in relation to directors’ obligations under the Listing Rules and
applicable laws and regulations and assists the Board in implementing
the corporate governance practices. Company secretary has provided his
training records to the Company indicating his compliance with the training
requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Independent Professional Advice

The Company has set up a procedure agreed by the Board for its
Directors to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, and at the Company’s expense to discharge their duties
to the Company.

NRAME
ARMERREFENBECANRESCERE
ERABZANERRRRL - BARE LT
FERZRFRCEFEERNEZTSRIE
UEHHEESETLEERER - RAAMED
MARARHAE S EINLRARKE BT £
MR AIES. 2015 2 HIRE -

BUEXER

ARABERGCHETTRF  SEETUHE
EERATSFKBUEXRERUNETRERAAF
ZBE BARERMARAXN-

Annual Report 2018 F %k

33



34

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

it ¥ & B ® &

Chairman and Management

The roles of the Chairman is separate from that of the CEO and their
responsibilities are clearly established. The Chairman and CEO of the
Company are Mr. IP Man Tin, David and Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
respectively. The Chairman is responsible for providing leadership to
the Board to ensure the Board will act in the best interests of the Group.

The CEO will work with executive committee (including head of each
department) and other executive Directors to manage the businesses
of the Group. The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management
of the business of the Group, attends to formulation and successful
implementation of policies, and assumes full accountability to the Board
for all operations of the Group.

Two of the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho. Ivan have the appropriate
professional accounting experiences and expertise. The Board
membership is covered by professionally qualified and widely
experienced personnel so as to bringing in valuable contribution and
different professional advices and consultancy for the development of
the Company. Over one-half of the Board members have recognised
legal, professional securities and/or accounting qualifications.

In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors act in good faith,
with due diligence and care, and in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. Their responsibilities include:

- regular Board meetings focusing on business strategy, operational
issues and financial performance;

- active participation on the boards of subsidiaries and associated
companies;

- approval of annual budgets for each operating company covering
strategy, financial and business performance, key risks and

opportunities;

- monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of
internal and external reporting;

- reviewing of the Compliance with the CG Code;
- monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of

management, Board members and shareholders, including misuse
of corporate assets and abuse in related party transaction;
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- ensuring processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity
of the Company, including financial statements, relationships with
suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, and compliance with
all laws and ethics; and

- reviewing of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company through the Audit Committee.

To enable the Company’s Directors to meet their obligations, an
appropriate organizational structure is in place with clearly defined
responsibilities and limits of authority.

Board Committees

A number of Board Committees, including Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, Credit Committee,
Executive Committee, Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
and Strategy Management Committee have been established by the
Board to strengthen its functions and to enhance its expertise. These
committees have been formed with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with the committees authority and duties.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee according to “A
Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. In accordance
with the requirements of the CG Code, the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee was revised and approved on 18" July, 2005 and 16"
March, 2012 to comply with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures, review of
the relationship with the auditors and financial information of the Group.
The revised terms of reference, explaining its role and the authority
delegated to it by the Board are available for inspection on request at
the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

As at 31t March, 2018, the Audit Committee of the Company is
comprised of three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan, Mr. POON Kai Tik and Mr. HUI Man Ho,
Ivan. It is chaired by Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan. It reports directly
to the Board and reviews matters within the scope of audit, such as
financial statements and internal controls, to protect the interests of the
Company'’s shareholders.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss audit process and accounting issues, and reviews
effectiveness of internal controls and risk evaluation. Written terms
of reference, which describes the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board.
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Set out below is the summary of work done in financial year 2018:

to review the interim financial report and annual financial
statements;

- to review effectiveness of the internal control system, financial
controls and risk management system;

- to review auditors’ statutory audit plan and letters of
representation;

- to consider and approve audit fees and audit work;

- ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and
has appropriate standing within the Company;

- toreview of continuing connected transactions and annual cap;

- review of the internal audit review reports by the internal audit
function and discussed the risk management and internal control
issues of the Group;

- review of the 2018 internal audit plan; and

- review of the updated reports on substantiation of the resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions and their training
programmes and budget, with a recommendation to the Board for
approval.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that Li, Tang,
Chen & Co. Certified Public Accountants (Practising), be nominated for
re-appointment as external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table above.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31% March, 2018, the Remuneration Committee is comprised of
independent non-executive Directors Mr. POON Kai Tik, Mr. CHAN
Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan and an executive Director,
Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie. Mr. POON Kai Tik is appointed as
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The Committee shall meet not
less than once every year. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee have been reviewed with reference to the CG Code.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 48 W 47 W 2 )
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The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
review and consider the Company’s policy for remuneration of Directors
and senior management, to determine remuneration packages of
executive Directors and senior management including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, and to recommend to
the Board remuneration of non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors. Set out below is the summary of work of the
Remuneration Committee done in financial year 2018:

- toreview the remuneration policy for the financial year 2018;
- toreview the terms of reference of remuneration of committee;
- toreview the policy for the remuneration of the Directors; and
- toreview the annual share option policy (if any).

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the financial year
ended 31t March, 2018. Details of individual attendance of its members
are set out in the table below.

Nomination Committee

The Board has established a Nomination Committee on 21t March,
2012 comprising one executive Director, Ms. CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
and three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. POON Kai Tik,
Mr. CHAN Chung Yee, Alan and Mr. HUI Man Ho, Ivan. It is chaired by
Mr. POON Kai Tik. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
which is available on the Company’s website, set out details of the
Committee’s duties, powers and functions, nomination procedures and
the process and criteria adopted for selection and recommendation of
candidates for directorship of the Company, summary of which in the
financial year 2018 is set out below:

- to determine the policy for the nomination of Directors;

- to review and recommend the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy;

- toreview the size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience and length of service) of the Board annually; and
making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes to implement the Company’s corporate strategy;

- toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships;

- to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

- to make recommendations to the Board on the relevant matters
relating - to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.
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The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the financial year
ended 31t March, 2018. Details of individual attendance of its members
are set out in the table above.

Credit Committee

A Credit Committee comprises two executive Directors and
other members responsible for overseeing the granting of credit
facilities. Daily operation of money lending will be guided by the
stringent procedures as prescribed by the internal control manual. The
Committee meets weekly and ad-hoc meetings will be held when market
and economic conditions changes significantly.

Executive Committee

The Committee comprises the CEO and the heads of each departments
of the Group. The Committee manages the day-to-day business of the
Group and meets regularly to resolve problems, makes decisions on
business matters to achieve corporate goals and objectives.

Compliance and Risk Steering Committee

The Group has established a Compliance and Risk Steering Committee
headed by the Compliance Officer. The objectives of the Compliance
and Risk Steering Committee are to:

- maintain and promote the fairness, efficiency, competitiveness
transparency and orderliness of the Group’s business;

- promote understanding by the staff members of the operation and
functioning of the Group’s business;

- provide appropriate protection for the Group’s clients; and
- prevent crime and misconduct in the Group’s business.

The Compliance and Risk Steering Committee meets bi-weekly to
discuss any current compliance issue and enhance the Group’s
practice and relevant compliance issue if necessary. It is believed that
better and balanced corporate governance environment will help to
enhance the Group’s expanding process which in turn translates into
shareholder value in the future.

Strategy Management Committee

The Group has established a Strategy Management Committee headed
by an executive Director. The Strategy Management Committee meeting
is held on a bi-weekly basis. The objectives of the Strategy Management
Committee include:

- formulation of medium and long-term strategies of the Group;
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- review of operations and business activities of the Group; and

- making recommendations to improve operational efficiencies.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(a) to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Internal Control and Risk Management

The internal controls of the Group are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that the Group’s assets and shareholders’ investments are
safeguarded against unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are
executed in accordance with the management’s authorisation, internal
audit, proper accounting records are maintained, and the relevant
legislation and regulations are being complied with.

Internal control procedures and risk management systems are in place
in each of the principal operating units of the Group. The Compliance
Department undertakes the role of reviewing and assessing the Group's
internal control system implemented in the principal operations for their
respective effectiveness and efficiency on a continuous basis.

The key tasks basically include:

- reviewing the Group’s principal activities and risk management
effectiveness;

- conducting comprehensive examination of the practices and
procedures as to the recognition of income and expenditure; and
internal control systems of the business units of the Group on a
regular basis;
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- undertaking special reviews and investigations of areas for
improvement identified by management; and

- the Audit Committee of the Group reviews internal control issues
identified by external auditors, regulatory authorities and the
management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Compliance Department has conducted a thorough review and
assessment of the Group’s existing internal control systems. The
review covers all material activities, including finance, operational and
compliance controls and risk management.

Internal Audit

Internal audit is an independent function reporting to the Board.
It provides an independent and objective assurance to safeguard
the Group’s operations. It effectuates a systematic and disciplined
approach to evaluate and improve the Group’'s process on risk
management, internal control and governance. The audit plans are risk
based to ensure that a methodical coverage of the Group’s operations
and resources are focused on high risk areas. Ad hoc reviews are
conducted on areas of concern where necessary.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy
of resources, training programmes, budget, qualifications and
experience of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
staff in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and fulfill the
requirement of the CG Code regarding risk management and internal
control systems in general.

Dissemination of Inside Information

The Board ensures the inside information is kept strictly confidential
until the relevant announcement is made. The Directors are not aware
of any significant areas which need to be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders.

Finance

The Company’s assets were used in an appropriate manner, the
expenditures in each of the operating units of the Group were under
strict control. Expenditures exceeding certain predetermined amounts
needed management’s authorisation. Accounting records were properly
maintained.
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Operation

A hierarchical system with proper work flow and reporting procedures
was duly established in each of the operating units. Every employee
was assigned with a specific area of duty and responsibility

Regular meetings with the attendance of senior management and
representatives from each of the operating units were held during the
year in order to improve communication and identify potential issues
within the Group.

Listing Rules Compliance

Throughout the year, the Group has fully complied with the Listing Rules
requirements. Financial reports, announcements and circulars have
been prepared and published in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules.

Summary Remarks

The Board is satisfied that adequate measures have been put in place
to strengthen and continue to improve the internal control systems. The
Listing Rules Task Force has been formed and continued to monitor
the operations of the Group. The prevailing internal control system are
complied satisfactorily with all the requirements of the Listing Rules.

External Auditors

During the year ended 31t March, 2018 the remuneration payable or
paid to the Group’s existing external auditors, Li, Tang, Chen & Co., are
set out as follows:

Services rendered for the Group
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720 670

Going Concern

The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, considers that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.
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Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The Statements of the Auditors
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 54
to 60.

Communication with Shareholders

Communications between the Company and its shareholders can be
through several means. The shareholders can visit the Company’s
website at www.upbest.com to learn the general background of the
Company and its activities, which enable the general public to have
a better understanding of the Group. Extensive and detail information
related to the Group’s activities and financial data can be retrieved
from the annual report and interim report issued. In addition, the annual
general meeting provides an opportunity for direct communication
between the Board and the Company’s shareholders.

An annual general meeting (“AGM") held on 25" August, 2017, the
Chairman of the Board and the representative of external auditor were
available to answer questions at the AGM. The chairman of the meeting
had explained the procedures of conducting a poll during the meeting.
All resolutions were proposed by the Chairman at the AGM and voted
separately by way of poll. All the votes cast at the said meeting were
properly counted and recorded.

Shareholder’s Right and Investor Relations

The Way for Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
general meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. General
meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of any one
member of the Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.
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The Procedures for a Shareholder to propose a person for
Election as a Director

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, details and
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

The Procedures for Shareholders Sending Enquiries

Members should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong. Members may at any time
make a request for the Company’s information to the extent that such
information is publicly available. Members may also make enquiries to
the following contact details of the Company:

Address: 2nd Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre,
300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
Telephone: 852 2545 3298

Procedures for Shareholders Putting Forward Proposals at
Members’ Meetings

Members are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the operations,
strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed at members’
meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Board or the Company Secretary
by written requisition. Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
Company, members who wish to put forward a proposal should convene
an extraordinary general meeting by the procedures set out in “Way to
Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting” above.

Constitutional Documents
There were no significant changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the financial year 2018.

Corporate Governance Enhancement

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code of the Stock Exchange but about
promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture.
We will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve our current
practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory changes and
developments. Any views and suggestions from our shareholders to
promote and improve our transparency are also welcome.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) is pleased to present the ESG report (“ESG
Report”) for the year ended 31% March, 2018. The ESG Report is
prepared in accordance with the requirements contained in Appendix
27 “Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Reporting Guide”
(“ESG Reporting Guide”) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The ESG Report outlines the Group’s sustainability initiatives and
selected Key Performance Indicators (“KPI") that are material to the
Group and its stakeholders on environmental, social and governance
issues for the year ended 31t March, 2018. We have fully embraced
social responsibility as our contribution to address the ESG
requirements and challenges society faces. We have implemented
a number of significant initiatives relating to employment and labour
practices, operation management and environmental protection.

ESG PHILOSOPHY

The Group considers that sustainable development is one of the core
values of the Group, and incorporates the concept of sustainable
development into business operations to create long-term value for
employees, customers, business partners, shareholders, investors and
the community.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

To report on this ESG Report, key stakeholders including investors,
shareholders and employees have been involved to identify the most
significant aspects of ESG for the Group. Investors and shareholders
could voice out their opinions via email address provided on the
Company’'s website, or through Annual General Meeting. In addition,
the Company has also set up a hotline to enable the stakeholders
to discuss and review areas which could help the business of the
Group in order to meet its potential growth and be prepared for
future challenges. The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback
on the approach and performance of ESG via the email address of
info@upbest.com.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 48 W 47 W 2 )

ARREZER((EF5Q) ZEREAMB LR (4
BIAEB) MALRABE_T-N\F=A
ST-RLEFENRE #ekEA%E (IR
5 oHekEalmE]) RE HERELRWRE
E@H@E/’é BaXZMARARES EMRR
M —+tRE  He@kER(RE HENE
Bl wEES(RR  HeRERmEHEs )M
HOMTRE -

AREFAEENAIFELREBELETNER
BREE ((BREMER])  BEBREREE—
2 }\¢ A=T—RLEFEERE HERE
RBRESEHEEARERNEAREREE - R
fFﬁj‘Emﬂ%ﬁ@ﬁ{ﬂE%?%iﬁ B RERMR
ERRALEEEMRE  APCERZREH
RENSHER  ELEENRFRE -

RE -HERERER
AEBERRAREEREAEENZLERLZ

CBREZRESBRARBLEE REE X
F¥BEBH BR REERMEGUERE
1=

ERNFERENESH

BRRRE H2RESBENER 280
E-HEAZENBNEAEEMEHEENER
Be kBRI - REEMRRAUBAR

BEED S E’]aa%*iWFiﬁziﬁ&Lﬂifﬁxi
REREMMNER ARATRURE 2

BEHREUNRERTBIEE  AAERE
BREEBERRNTEURARROE M
FEE AEBEANZEBA T BRED i
info@upbest.comgt HIRIE - 1t @ RE R T K
RBRRHER -



ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R

The list underneath represents the significant issues based of the ESG
Reporting Guide which are considered to be material and relevant to
the Group. Based on management’s assessment, the issues and KPls
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relevant to this report’s disclosure are set out as follows:

ESG Issues as set forth in
ESG Reporting Guide

Environmental Issues

A1 Emissions

A2 Use of Resources &
A3 Environment and
Natural Resources

Social Issues

B1 Employment

B2 Health and safety

B3 Development and training

B4 Labour standards

B5 Supply chain management
B6 Services responsibility

B7 Anti-corruption/anti-money
laundering
B8 Community investment
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Material KPI for the Group

Greenhouse gas emission
Use of energy and resources

Labour practices

Workplace health and safety

Employee development and
training

Anti-child and forced labour
compliance

N/A

Services responsibility and
commitment

Anti-corruption, anti-money
laundering compliance

Community services, employee
volunteering and donation

HASEBEANBREN

BITER

TRt REEL 2
EE TR RFI
RETHBHLST

TEM
R B (E R

RES RAZAR

HEED BEETIRHK
RIBR

All other KPIs not mentioned above were considered to be immaterial
or not relevant for detailed disclosure. The following ESG issues
are presented based on the classification of provisions by the ESG
Reporting Guide.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Group adopts various practices to prevent pollution, reduce waste,
increase recycling and minimize natural resource use by continually
improving our environmental management practices and measures. We
have provided environmental protection guideline to educate our staff
to adopt responsible behavior and promote environmental protection
in our work place and suggest ways to reduce energy and paper
consumption.
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A1 Emissions

The Group is not involved in any manufacturing activities. Emissions
produced directly by the Group only related to the executive passenger
vehicles used for senior staff’s local travel only. The scale and usage is
immaterial given the size of the Group’s assets and staff.

ATEERY

SEYE2EEAEXEY SEERELN
HRMERNERBTBRAEBRIHNAE - E#
BEETAENMET - HLEREREBNEER
BINRE HNEREREIMIRE -

2018 2017
Greenhouse Gas Emission BEREBHEMN —E-N\F —E—+tF
Scope 1 - Direct emissions or removals & E1— HEHN N/A N/A
from sources TiE A iE A
Scope 2 - Energy indirect emissions HE2—HEHM® 84 92 Tonne
NI
Scope 3 - Other indirect emissions EHE3 - HMmEEER 4 2 Tonne
NI
Total HBET 88 94 Tonne
AIE

During the year there was 88 tonnes (2017: 94 tonnes) of carbon
dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases emitted from the Group’s
business operation which mainly represent the consumption of
electricity and papers.

A2 Use of Resources & A3 the Environment and Natural Resources
We recognise the importance of efficient use of resource. With over 40
staff across the Group, we consume considerable amounts of electricity
and papers and with the efficient use of such, we try our best to
minimize our impact on the environment whilst we grow our businesses.

During the year ended 31t March, 2018, the electricity consumption
of the Group was approximately 106,000kWh (2017: 116,000kWh). We
promote green office concept in our workplace. For instance, staff are
reminded to switch off lights and equipment after work, during lunch
break or during the time working outside the office and wherever
possible. Energy efficient office equipment is always preferred in
making purchase decisions.
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During the year ended 31t March, 2018, a total of approximately 0.2
tonne (2017: approximately 0.2 tonne) of paper has been used in daily
operation. To save papers, employees are encouraged to use duplex
printing for internal documents. Facilities and procedures are in place
for paper waste recycling.

In addition, our Group also actively participates in recycling
schemes. Equipment such as computers, printers, and toner cartridges
are returned to suppliers. An electronic platform is used within the
Group for internal administration and effective communication with all
staff at office. Except for the abovementioned, the Group’s business has
no direct impact on the environment and natural resources other than
the consumption of electricity and papers as detailed above.
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SOCIAL ISSUES HEEE
B1 Employment B1xh %
Employee by age and gender ERZFHRRIEE
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —tF
Male Female Male Female
S u e 58

0-18 - - = =
0-185%
19-30 _ 1 N ’
19-307%
31-45 9 3 11 5
31-455%
46-60 10 10 12 6
46-605%
61 or above 2 6 1 6
61BN L
Total 21 20 24 18
Bt
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Turnover by age group and gender

BERKEFRRIER

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—LF
Male Female Male Female
3 u ES X

0-18 - - - _
0-18%%
19-30 - _ . y
19-307%
31-45 1 - q 1
31-455%
46-60 3 - 3 3
46-607%
61 or above - - - _
61 A £
Total 4 - 4 5
st

Our employees are the most important asset that can drive the
long-term development and sustainability of the Group. We provide
benefits to our employees including salaries, incentives, directors’
fees and contribution to defined contribution retirement scheme.
Remuneration and benefit packages are determined with reference
to the position, skills, capability and performance of employees. Our
human resources department is responsible to comply with the following
applicable employment-related laws and regulations in Hong Kong:
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o Employment Ordinance

o Minimum Wage Ordinance

. Employees’ Compensation Ordinance

o Sex Discrimination Ordinance

o Disability Discrimination Ordinance

o Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
o Race Discrimination Ordinance

. Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
o Occupational Safety & Health Ordinance
o Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance

J Prevention of Bribery Ordinance

During the year ended 31¢t March, 2018, the Group has no known
non-compliance with the above relevant regulations (2017: nil). We
endeavour to provide a well-structured and caring working environment
to raise their sense of belonging and work efficiency in the Group.

B2 Health and Safety

Our Group strictly adhere to the laws and regulations regarding
occupational health and safety, for example the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance. We seek to provide a safe, health and
comfortable working environment for our employees to minimize any

adverse health and safety impacts arising from our operation.

According to our record during the year ended 31t March, 2018, no
work-related fatalities or sick leave for work injury were taken from our
employees (2017: nil).

B3 Development and Training

The Group is aware of the importance of continuous development and
updates of relevant laws and regulations. Employees, especially those
who are involved in regulated businesses and activities, have to receive
continuous professional training including on-the-job training, in-house
regular meetings and training programs organized by professional
bodies to keep abreast of the latest market practices and matters
relating to our daily job duties. In-house regular meetings and training
are tailor-made by directors and senior management which covered the
key aspects as follows:

(1) Compliance and regulatory — general compliance, market and
regulatory updates, prevention of bribery, bankruptcy laws, data
privacy, the Money Lender’s Ordinance;
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(2) Management skills and personal development — leadership
skills, supervisory skills, KPI setting, communication and
interpersonal skills, creative thinking and problem solving skills,
self-development skills; and

(3) General training — language skills, computer skills, debt
collection skills and customer service skills.

Employees are encouraged to attend seminars and read prescribed
periodicals to update the industry and regulatory latest developments
for their continuing competence; and professional employees
are required to comply with continuous professional training and
examination requirements as stipulated in relevant regulations.

During the year ended 31t March, 2018, a total of 20 hours (2017: 20
hours) of meetings and training have been provided by directors and
senior management and the average training hour per employees was
8.2 hours (2017: 8.3 hours)

B4 Labour Standard

Child or forced labour are prohibited in our Group's operation which
was in compliance with the Employment of Children Regulations,
made under the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57). To avoid such
practices happened in our Group, our human resources department is
responsible to check the resume, original identification card and other
certificates of new jointers and potential candidates in order to eliminate
the possibility of child and forced labour in our employment. Human
resources department also communicate with the candidates’ preceded
employment for verification purposes.

During the year ended 31t March, 2018, the Group had nil
non-compliance cases in relation to the violation of relevant child labour
and forced labour laws (2017: nil).

B5 Supply Chain Management

Due to the nature of principal business activities, we have no major
suppliers. The Group’s suppliers include various computer system
and software vendors, providers of market information, legal advisers
and other business services professionals. The procurement decision
is based on criteria such as price, reputation, track record of high
corporate standards, expertise, capacity, creditability, business stability
and product/service quality which we consider such would not pose
significant social risks for our business. In order to minimize possible
disruptions of supply chain, our management from different departments
maintained a close dialogue with the suppliers. We also expect that our
suppliers are of high quality and operate in compliance with applicable
local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ &t 48 W 47 W 2 )
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B6 Services Responsibility

The business activities of the Group are required to comply with the
rules and regulations of various regulators in Hong Kong such as Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission. The Group is responsible to comply with the
requirements of the rules and regulations in Hong Kong relating to our
services responsibility as below:

o Code of Conducts for Persons Licensed by or Registered with
the Securities & Future Commission

o Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)

o Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules

J Securities and Futures (Client Money) Rules

o Securities and Futures (Client Securities) rules

o Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
(Financial Institutions) Ordinance

o Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance

. Organised and Serious Crimes Ordinance

o United Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Ordinance

The Group provides loan and margin financing to individuals and
corporates in Hong Kong. Corporate structured loans, mortgage loan,
consumer finance and small business loans are provided through
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group operate under the Money
Lenders’ Ordinance (“MLQ”), being licensed money lenders. The Group
also provides margin financing to our clients through another wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group operate under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQ”), being licensed margin financier. During the year,
our Group had no known cases of non-compliance with the above laws
or regulations.

In Hong Kong, both the MLO and SFO focuses on borrowers’ rights
as well as lenders’ practices. The Compliance and Risk Steering
Committee of our Group regularly review of the update of the code of
practice and relevant regulations to make sure compliance in various
business aspects such as customer relationship, know-your-client,
anti-money laundering, credit valuation, collection and recovery and
data privacy
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We emphasize the importance of providing quality services to
our clients. All operational departments are responsible for the
implementation of the established policies and procedures based on
the internal control manuals set out by the Group. The internal control
manuals of our Group contain guidelines and implementation plans to
ensure:

(i) conduct business in an orderly and efficient manner;
(ii) protect the security of the assets for the Group and our clients;

(iif) maintain proper records and ensure reliability of financial
information and other information used by the Group;

(iv) prevent and detect potential fraud; and
(v) comply with all applicable laws and regulatory requirements.

The directors and compliance officer are responsible for overseeing
the day-to-day operations of departments and ensuring that the internal
control procedures are followed. In case of any complaint received from
our clients either verbally or in writing, the compliance department will
review such complaint to ensure that they are handled in a prompt and
appropriate manner. Our customer services hotline is set up to handle
complaints from clients. All valid complaints will be recorded monthly
by the compliance department. During the year ended 31t March, 2018,
we have received nil complaints from our clients (2017: 1).

Our Group emphasizes on the importance of protecting privacy of our
clients in the collection, processing and use of their personal data
and is committed to the compliance of the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance and other relevant codes of practice issued by the Privacy
Commissioner for Personal Data.

We have a contractual obligation to protect information of our clients as
stated in the account opening agreements and treat their transactions
record and personal information as private and confidential, subject
to the disclosure requirements under the relevant laws, rules and
regulations.
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During the year ended 31t March 2018, we have received nil
complaints from our clients relating to the violation of the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance (2017: nil).

B7 Anti-corruption/Anti-money Laundering

Our Group fully cooperate with the international drive against services
crime, drug trafficking and terrorism and is committed to assist
the authorities to identify money laundering and terrorist financing
transactions. We strict adhere to the applicable laws and rules in the
anti-money laundering and terrorist financing, including but not limited
to Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceed) Ordinance, Organised and
Serious Crimes Ordinance, Guideline on Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing, and United Nation (Anti-Terrorism Measure)
Ordinance.

Our Group has implemented an effective whistle blower policy for
reporting fraud and corruption. We encourage employees to report
on suspected business irregularities and provide clear channels
specifically for this purpose. During the year ended 31t March, 2018,
no significant risks relating to corruption had been identified (2017: Nil).
There were no confirmed incidents in relation to corruption or public
legal cases brought against the Group or its employees (2017: Nil).
Also, no whistle-blowing concerning a criminal offence or misconduct
was received during the year (2017: Nil).

B8 Community Investment

Our Group promotes social contribution of our member companies
to the local communities in which they operate, and attach much
importance to cultivating a sense of social responsibility among our
employees and encourage them to make better contributions to our
communities during and after work.
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LI, TANG, CHEN & CO.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS (PRACTISING)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Upbest Group
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set
out on pages 61 to 135, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31t March, 2018, and the consolidated income
statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31! March,
2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Key audit matter
BRENSEE

Valuation of investment properties

REMEZfHE

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements
FLHREAVBRENE TR -

The aggregate fair values of the Group’s investment properties as at
31st March, 2018 amounted to HK$1,511,000,000 representing 55% of
the Group’s total assets as at that date. The net increase in fair values
recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 March, 2018 amounted to HK$115,000,000. The
Group’s investment properties, which are located in Macau, comprise
commercial and residential premises. The fair values of the Group’s
investment properties were assessed by the management based on
independent valuations prepared by an external property valuer.
RZZE-NE=ZA=+—-—HB SEREVEZZFA L2 TERER
1,5611,000,000 T - HENEERE HEERES% - HE-_T—/\F=
A=t+—Bz&HEEe2EKRER HE R FEFER115,000,000% T - £
ZREMELZENRR  ABENEREENEEAK - FEZREMER
TETRERBREINE Y ETEE L B 2B AR -

We identified valuation of the Group’s investment properties as a key
audit matter because of the significance of investment properties
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements and because the
determination of the fair values involves significant judgment and
estimation, including selecting the appropriate valuation methodology
and market data.

RMRAEERENENGREABREREER REAREVRUEELR
AUBRRZEBZUERRFEZIREESERNHAL LG BREEES
BRRHEDERTISER -

B MY &% B OB R &

EARBGTRR cBARELRSEHALT

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter
BMMARERTREEREREE

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation

of investment properties included the
following:

B EME 2 hEHERA 2 %2 T
mE :

. evaluating the competence, capabilities,
objectivity and independence of the
external property valuer;
EEINEY TR BRE - B2 - BB
HRBE

o evaluating the valuation methodology
used by the external property valuer
based on our knowledge for similar
types of properties;

R AP R AR CUR R W) 2 2 3Bl 7 b
BT RD AR 2 A

o discussing the valuations with the
external property valuer in a separate
private session and challenging key
estimates adopted in the valuations,
including those relating to market
selling prices, by comparing them
with historical rates and available
market data, taking into consideration
comparability and other local market
factors;

BN E TR ETTE AP e &
A EMRA BRMEFTETRE &
RZEHBEmSEE BELEBRKEA
AmSERELR  ZEIEBLRE
REMTISREE

The valuer is a member of recognised
professional bodies for external valuers. We
found the valuation methodologies used to
be in line with generally accepted market
practices and were applied consistently. The
key assumptions used were within the range
of market data. We also found that disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements to be
adequate.
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Key audit matter
BREREE

Impairment assessment of interest bearing receivable from loans
and margin financing

REMEXEBERBSTRBEN AN S 2 BRFEHERE

Money lending and security margin financing are major operating
segments for the Group.
MEXBRESATARBEREBEIZZENK -

The Group held mortgaged and personal loans to borrowers totaling
HK$481,000,000, less provision for impairment of HK$72,000,000, with
the net carrying value of HK$409,000,000 as at 31 March, 2018. It
represented 15% of the Group’s total assets, as at that date.
RZE-NF=ZRA=+-—H SERERARHEEBEREASEREE
#481,000,0005% 7T M F£ 72,000,000 T 2 B EHEE - FREEEAR
409,000,000/ T ' HERE RSB EERES% °

The Group held receivables from margin financing totaling
HK$140,000,000, less provision for impairment of HK$37,000,000, with
the net carrying value of HK$103,000,000 as at 31¢ March, 2018. It
represented 4% of the Group’s total assets, as at the date.
RZE-NF=ZA=+—-RB AEERAARBERKFERESE
140,000,000/ 7T M Br37,000,0008 T 2 M E & E  FHEEHEEA
103,000,000 7T HERE B EEEEAEA% °

We identified the estimation of provision for impairment as a key audit
matter because of the significance of the receivable and the significant
judgement applied by the management in assessing the value of
collateral and the recoverable amount of individual impairment and
assumptions, applied by the management in the collective impairment
model to determine collective assessment of impairment.

RPRRAERB AT ABRERZEERE  REARBRKRELEANRER
BRHEEERR 2 EBEREARERATRE S REMER 2 EAHE
AR RERAEREERRBIEREASRENE LA -
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How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BANARERTRERRERSH

Our audit procedures for assessment of
impairment for mortgaged and personal loans
to borrowers and margin financing classified
as receivables included:

B2 B AR REWTIE 2 1215 KA A EFURE K
BELRARBMEZCTEMEACERREABEE

o understanding and testing the
key controls over the credit risk
management for on-going monitoring,
such as periodic review for
identification of any delinquency in
loans or interest repayment;
BEREASSEENEERREECTE
BoE - ANEHAME MR AR A BRI HE R B
MBEN

o examining the underlying
documentation supporting the value
of the collateral, if any, and the
management’s key estimations used in
the individual impairment assessment
for these loans and receivables on a
sample basis;
BEXHERREEIRRER (1F)
K ETRE ot iE B 5 % U IR (B IR
ERHEATERA 2 BER st THBOR S

o reviewing the fair value of collateral for
all impaired amounts.

RAEREHE  BEEMAMIAFE -

We found that adequate control procedures
had been exercised and management’s
judgment regarding the provision for
impairment of the mortgaged and personal
loans to borrowers for the financial year was
appropriate.

BRMERRMBEEAR  $AERARBRER
BEAERZREERT RHNEERF  REE
BEZHABASE -
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

J Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B Y % B B ® &

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wan Hing Chuen.

Li, Tang, Chen & Co.

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
10/F Sun Hung Kai Centre

30 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

25" June, 2018
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

= a

W = X

For the year ended 31" March 2018 BZE & — )E=H=+—HILEE

Note 2018 2017
(In HK$'000) (LB T BEN) Bt E —E-N\F —Z—+F
Revenue U %5 7(a) 124,642 SN7,.518
Cost of goods sold $HE B AR (7,272) (197,072)
Other revenue H Uy 2 938 697
Net increase in fair value of investment REMENFEZ
properties EgE 15 115,000 150,000
Net (loss)/gain on financial assets at fair ~ ZAFERWZEXRTIEZ
value through profit or loss BISEEST (BB /EF (2) 4
Provision of impairment loss B 5 RYFREREE
on trade receivables (net) B (OFME) 19 (34,946) (1,896)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BERRE
equipment FiTEE £ 2 % 7 - 3
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & B A Bl AT EE A 2 Vg 32 3 =
Administrative and other operating THREMEERST
expenses (26,325) (30,345)
Finance costs B AR 8 (379) (160)
Share of results of an associate LB ERT 2 EE (6,155) (4,662)
Profit before taxation B 35 A 4 7 9 165,504 234,084
Income tax expense FigRi A 12(a) (1,921) (8,234)
Profit for the year FN& A 163,583 225,850
Attributable to: FEfh :
Equity holders of the Company ARRIEREEA A 163,603 225,867
Non-controlling interests I B 2 (20) (17)
163,583 225,850
Earnings per share BRIER HK cents HK cents
AL il
Basic and diluted EARANEE 1 6.1 8.4
Final dividends RERE 13 48,282 48,282
Special dividends BRI E 13 48,282 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
/= & 2 H W & %
For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE
2018 2017
(In HK$'000) (UEMFTREN) —E-N\F ZT—tF
Profit for the year FREA 163,583 225,850
Other comprehensive income/(expense) Eft 2 mE Uz, (FAx)
ltems that may be reclassified BEERARETIER
subsequently to profit or loss Bm2IEE
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEEEEZ
translation of foreign operations BN ERR 4,954 (3,282)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) 2 EHMEEKZ (FX)
for the year, (net of tax) (Bie%EmE) 4,954 (3,282)
Total comprehensive income REXHKELE
for the year 168,537 222,568
Attributable to: JEAS -
Equity holders of the Company ARRERTAA 168,557 222,585
Non-controlling interests IR 2 (20) (17)
168,537 222,568

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= & B B KK R R

Asat 31* March 2018 R =2 — /)\4E=H=+—H

Note 2018 2017
(In HK$'000) (A EEFrBENN) =3 —E-N\F =TT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M B REE 14 1,290 1,045
Investment properties BEME 15 1,511,000 1,396,000
Intangible assets B EE 16 2,040 2,040
Interests in an associate REE N R 2 17 47,923 49,124
Available-for-sale financial assets AEHEMBEE 18 136 136
Trade and other receivables, deposits B 5 N H b e g s -
and prepayments e MIEfM A 19 169,959 97,756
Other assets Hin & 20 5,200 5,200
Deferred tax assets EIERTE 12(d) 6,204 -
1,743,752 1,551,301
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 21 20 23
Properties held for development RIEREME 22 3,011 3,011
Trade and other receivables, deposits B 5 RE M fEWFRIE -
and prepayments Be RIEMNFE 19 376,054 614,677
Financial assets at fair value through ZAFERERY R
profit or loss ZHBEE 24 - 110,000
Tax recoverable EE{EEE 1,937 =
Bank balances and cash RITEBER S 23 588,598 361,876
969,620 1,089,587
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Borrowings R 25 3,599 28,109
Amounts due to related parties FEfTRREE A T 5B 26 2,120 2,923
Amount due to ultimate holding company & & &= A 71 A 27 99,309 63,269
Creditors and accrued expenses FERRIBRERE R 28 116,619 173,916
Provision for taxation TS 558 1,759
222,205 269,976
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 747,415 819,611
NET ASSETS EEZRE 2,491,167 2,370,912
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= & B B R

As at 31* March 2018 R —F— /)\£E=H=++—H

Note 2018 2017
(In HK$'000) (LB FrREN) B & —E-NF —E—tF
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRK#E
Share capital A& A 29 26,824 26,824
Reserves s 30 2,368,340 2,296,347
Proposed dividends B AB 13 96,564 48,282
Equity attributable to equity RAREREAA
holders of the Company E(R#E = 2,491,728 2,371,453
Non-controlling interests I R 25 (561) (541)
TOTAL EQUITY EEEE 2,491,167 2,370,912

The consolidated financial statements on pages 61 to 135 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

on 25" June, 2018.

CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew

Executive Director

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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Executive Director

HiTEF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= & B %

n OB X

For the year ended 31* March 2018 & ZE _&F— )\4E=H =+—H IL4E)§

Note 2018 2017
(In HK$'000) (UEEFTREN) i —E-N\F —T—tF
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REER
Profit before taxation K 754 Al 4 165,504 234,084
Adjustments for: ER T ESIBELAE
Interest expenses FMELH 379 160
Depreciation nE 208 252
Provision of impairment B RMFREER
loss on trade receivables (net) B (OFE) 19 34,946 1,896
Bad debts written off (net) RIZIEME CFE) 267 587
Net increase in fair value BREMELNTEZ
of investment properties FE R (115,000) (150,000)
Share of results of an associate BB ERNR ¥R 6,155 4,662
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMBEARFTES 2T (3) =
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BBERREMESE
equipment il - (3)
Operating profit before working R EEELEHA 2
capital changes BERR 92,456 91,638
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BFEZRL,/(3Eh) 3 (4)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other B NRHMWERDE B R
receivables, deposits and prepayments BRZREZRLY, (EM) 131,207 (38,005)
Decrease/(increase) in trust and segregated =P HEEFOEFBE
accounts included in bank balances RBITEB 2R/ (3E0) 2,770 (14,411)
Increase in other loans HEmBER2Em 490 420
Decrease in amounts due to related parties &< a8 A + 208 2 @ 4 (803) (7)
Increase in amount due to ultimate e SRR A BRI Z
holding company 1200 36,040 22,284
(Decrease)/increase in creditors and ENREBERENRERZ
accrued expenses (R /#Em (57,297) 29,632
Cash generated from operations KREEBEEZRS 204,866 91,547
Interest paid BAFE (379) (160)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBFEHR (11,263) (5,532)
Overseas tax paid B8N R - (1,582)
Net cash generated from operating REXBEECHEFHE
activities 193,224 84,273
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
= a8 B 2 R B *

For the year ended 31" March 2018 BE _-F— )\4E=H=+—HILEE

Note 2018 2017

(In HK$'000) (LEBFTREN) B E —E-N\F —ET—tF
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE “ERLE

equipment (453) (151)
Proceed on disposal of property, plant HEME HBER

and equipment REWFTBR = 13
Proceed on disposal of financial assets HEBEAFERRERIIEZ

at fair value through profit or l0ss MBEE 110,000 -
Net cash flow on disposal of a subsidiary  HEMBRA AR FE LR 32 3 =
Investment in financial assets at fair value  # &N A T ERK R T

through profit or loss SR B EE - (110,000)
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETHELE(ER)

investing activities ZEEFE 109,550 (110,138)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Dividends paid B E (48,282) (40,235)
New bank loans raised MIBRITER 34 - 35,000
Repayment of bank loans ERBITER 34 (25,000) (10,000)
Net cash used in financing activities METHEACREFE 000 (73,282) . (15,235)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN BeRkBezEEY2

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FEmM O 229,492 (41,100)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FURERBAEZEEY

AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 285,321 326,421
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERZHAEREAEGZEEY

AT END OF YEAR 514,813 285,321
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BeRBEEZEEY

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERR 2D
Cash in hand, non-pledged short-term Re EREHREFERK

deposits and general accounts —RIRITE A &R

included in bank balances 23 514,813 285,321

66 UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (36 &t 45 M 45 Wt 2 )



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31" March 2018 &% & — )\4E=H =+—H L4

Non-
Share Share Contributed ~ Capital Translation ~ Retained Proposed controlling
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve profits  dividend Total interests Total
(In HK$'000) (HBEFRAEN) Bx  RHEE EARS ARG EXNRG  REEN  BRRS it FERER @it
Balance as at 1 April, 2016 RZE-NEMA-RER 13,412 317,696 8,515 - (1,791) 1,811,036 40,235 2,189,108 (524) 2,188,579
Proft/(loss) for the year Engil/ (5i) - - - = - | [225.867 - | [225867 (17) ] (225,850
Other comprehensive expense AEREMRERR
for the year
- exchange differences arisingon ~ —BEFHEEEL Y
translation of foreign operations ERzH = - - - (3,282) - - (3,282) - (3,282)
Total comprehensive income/ FE2ENGE/ (Y 88

(expense) for the year - - - - (3,282) 225,867 - 222585 (17) 222,568
Dividends paid EfifE - - - - = S (02%)  (402%) S (402%)
Bonus issue BEAR 13412 (13412) - - - - - - - -
Proposed dividends RERE - - - - - (48282) 48282 - - =
Balance as at 31 March, 2017 RZZ-t#=F=1-H

b33 26,824 304,284 8,515 - (5,073) 1,988,621 48,282 2,371,453 (541) 2,370,912
Profit/(loss) for the year Enal/ (5i8) - = = = - | | 163603 - | 163603 (20) | {163,583
Other comprehensive income FEEEMZENE
for the year
- exchange differences arising on ~~ —BEBHLEEL 7
translation of foreign operations EizE - - - - 4,954 - - 4,954 - 4,954
Total comprehensive income/ AERERE/ (%) 8%

(expense) for the year - - - - 4954 163,603 - 168557 (20) 168,537
Dividends paid BRRE = - - = - S 8282 (48282) S (828)
Proposed dividends BRRE - - - - - (96,564) 96,564 - - -
Balance as at 31 March, 2018 RZE-\E=f=1-H

&8 26,824 304,284 8,515 - (119) 2,055,660 96,564 2,491,728 (561) 2,491,167
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i

For the year ended 31* March 2018 # £ &

2.1

8 B % & & B =

JSE=ZH=+—HILERE

GENERAL

Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business is 2nd Floor, Wah Kit Commercial
Centre, 300 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

As at the date of this report, CCAA Group Limited held direct
interests in 1,992,721,496 (2017: 1,992,721,496) shares of the
Company, representing approximately 74.29% (2017: 74.29%) of
the issued share capital of the Company.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. lIts
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of a wide
range of financial services including securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate
finance advisory, assets management, property investment and
precious metal trading.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same as the functional currency of the
Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

i) The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(*HKFRSs”) which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”). The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention except
that the investment properties and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are stated at fair value.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B & B B | & KM O

For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

ii) Basis of consolidation:

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31t March,
2018. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealized
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and
dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling
interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company.

2.2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Group has adopted the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”") for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses

Amendments to HKFRS 12, Disclosure of
Interests in Other Entities

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= & B B | x K O

For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

2.3 NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs THAT HAVE BEEN ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following amendments
and new or amended standards which are not yet effective for the
accounting period ended 31t March, 2018 and which have not
been early adopted in these consolidated financial statements:

23 CREMERERZHITREBITNE

78 B 3% 4R 5 22 B
EEAGRMBHRRCMERS BEE
ATEN & BB A TER] R AT R EFT
R/ ERBE_FT-\F=A=1—H
S HRHRERNARZFHENH
BERITRRMN -

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 2

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

Amendments to HKFRS 9

HKFRS 16

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
First-time adoption of Hong
Kong Financial Reporting
Standards'

Amendments to HKAS 28,
Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures!

Classification and
Measurement of
Share-based Payment
Transactions'

Financial Instruments'

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers'’

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Clarification to
HKFRS 15)!

Transfers of Investment
Property’

Foreign Currency
Transactions and Advance
Consideration’

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation?

Leases?

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatment?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B & B B | & KM O

For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

2.3 NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs THAT HAVE BEEN ISSUED

BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (Continued)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1t January,
2018

: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1¢ January,
2019

E The amendments were originally intended to be effective for
periods beginning on or after 1t January, 2016. The effective
date has now been deferred/removed. Early application of the
amendments continue to be permitted

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be
adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the first period
beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. The
directors are currently assessing the impact of the new or
amended HKFRSs upon initial application. Information on new or
amended HKFRSs that are expected to have an impact on the
Group’s accounting policies is provided below.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 will replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for
classification and measurement of financial asset, new rules for
hedge accounting and a new impairment model for financial
assets.

Based on an analysis of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as at 31t March, 2018 on the basis of the facts and
circumstances that exist at that date, the directors of the Company
have assessed the impact of HKFRS 9 to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements as follows:

a) Classification and measurement
HKFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories
for financial assets: measured at amortised costs, fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") and fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). Classification is
driven by the entity’s business model for managing the debt
instruments and their contractual cash flow characteristics.

Based on the preliminary assessment, the Group expects
that all financial assets and financial liabilities will continue to
be measured on the same bases as are currently measured
under HKAS 39.
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2.3 NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs THAT HAVE BEEN ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (Continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

b)

Hedge accounting

The new hedge accounting rules will align the accounting
for hedging instruments more closely with the Group’s risk
management practices. As a general rule, more hedge
relationship might be eligible for hedge accounting, as the
standard introduces a more principles-based approach.
While the Group does not involve any hedging, it does not
expect a significant impact on the accounting for its hedging
relationships.

Impairment

The new impairment model requires the recognition of
impairment provision based on expected credit losses
(“ECL") rather than only incurred credit losses as is the
case under HKAS 39. It applies to financial assets classified
at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at FVOCI,
contract assets under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, lease receivables, loan commitments and certain
financial guarantee contracts. Based on the assessments
undertaken to date, the Group anticipates that the new model
may result in an earlier recognition of credit losses compared
to the current incurred losses model.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for

revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15,

revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration

to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for

transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in

HKFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for measuring and

recognising revenue.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

2.3 NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs THAT HAVE BEEN ISSUED

BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (Continued)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in contract
asset and liability account balances between the periods and
key judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all
current revenue recognition requirements under HKFRS. Either a
full retrospective application or a modified retrospective adoption
is required on the initial application of the standard. In April 2016,
the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the
implementation issues on identifying performance obligations,
application guidance on principals versus agent and licence of
intellectual property and transition. The amendments are also
intended to held ensure a more consistent application when
entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and complexity of
applying the standard.

The Group has performed a detailed assessment on the impact of
the adoption of HKFRS 15 and expect that the impact should not
be material. The Group’s revenue is mainly made up of service
income such as brokerage income and commission, interest
income and rental income. The Group considers that the initial
application of HKFRS 15 will not have a significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

Currently the Group classifies leases into operating leases and
accounts for the lease arrangements differently, depending on the
classification of the lease. The Group enters into some leases as
the lessor and other as the leasee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that
lessors account for their rights and obligations under a lease.
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2.3

2.4

NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs THAT HAVE BEEN ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no longer
distinguish between finance leases and operating leases. Instead,
subject to practical expedients, lessees will account for all leases
in a similar way to current finance lease accounting, i.e. at the
commencement date of the lease the lessee will recognise and
measure a lease liability at the present value of the minimum future
lease payments and will recognise a corresponding “right-of-use”
asset. After initial recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee
will recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the lessee depreciation of the
right-of-use asset, instead of the current policy of recognising
rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a systematic
basis over the lease term. As a practical expedient, the lessee
can elect not to apply this accounting model to short-term leases
(i.e. where the lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases
of low-value assets, in which case the rental expenses would
continue to be recognised on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a lessee
of leases for the properties, plant and equipment which are
currently classified as operating leases. Most of the lessee entered
by the Group are in short-term basis. The Group considers that
initial application of HKFRS 16 will have no significant impact on
the Group’s results of operation and financial position.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.

a) Goodwill:
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary or an
associate represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the relevant subsidiary
or associate at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
is presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position. Capitalised goodwill arising on an
acquisition of an associate (which is accounted for using the
equity method) is included in the cost of the investment of the
relevant associate.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

a)

Goodwill: (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end
of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in the consolidated income statement. An
impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary or an associate, the
attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Excess of an acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of an
acquirer’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost (“discount on acquisitions”)

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a
subsidiary represents the excess of the net fair value of
an acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities attribute to the Group over the cost of the business
combination. Discount on acquisition is recognised, after
reassessment, immediately in the consolidated income
statement. A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition
of an associate or a joint venture is included as income
in the determination of the investor’s share of results of
the associate or joint venture in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

b)

Property, plant and equipment:

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the assets to working condition and location
for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of
property, plant and equipment have been put into operation,
such as repairs and maintenance and overhaul cost, is
normally charged to the consolidated income statement in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can
be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted
in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to
be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and
equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional
cost of the asset.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or fair value of
items of property, plant and equipment over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings
ME+HREF

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
BE - EERRE

Motor vehicles

e

15% - 30%
15% — 30%
15% - 30%
15% — 30%

The land and buildings elements of a lease of land and
buildings are considered separately for the purposes of lease
classification, unless the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and buildings elements, in which
case, the entire lease is generally treated as a finance lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the
consolidated income statement in the year in which the item is
derecognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

c)

d)

Investment properties:

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in the consolidated income statement for the period
in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use or no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the consolidated income statement in the year in which the
item is derecognised.

Subsidiaries:

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in consolidated
income statement. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint
venture.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

d)

e)

Subsidiaries: (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, the
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment
losses.

Associates:

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant
influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method,
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale). Under
the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets
and any impairment loss relating to the investment. Any
acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, whereas the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the associates’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method together with the
Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee
at the date when significant influence is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

f)

9)

Intangible assets:

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired are
recognised at cost. After initial recognition, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in the consolidated income statement when
the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually by comparing their carrying amounts
with their recoverable amounts, irrespective of whether there
is any indication that they may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset may be
impaired.

Inventories:

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes cost of purchase computed using the
first-in-first-out method. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the sales proceeds of items sold in the ordinary
course of business after the end of the reporting period
or to management estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.
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For the year ended 31* March 2018 # £ &

JSE=ZH=+—HILERE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Investments:

h)

The Group classifies its investments in the following

categories: trade and other receivables, available-for-sale

financial assets, financial assets or liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss and loan receivables. The classification

depends on the purpose for which the investments were

acquired. Management determines the classification of

its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this

designation at the end of the reporting period.

ii)

Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss:

At the end of the reporting period subsequent to
initial recognition, financial assets or liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognised directly in the
consolidated income statement in the period in which
they arise. All derivative financial assets or liabilities are
also categorised as financial assets or liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss unless they are designated
as hedges.

Trade and other receivables:

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. At the end of the reporting
period subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses. An impairment loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.
Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount
can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 8

Pa
=)

M OB O® R KB

For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Investments: (Continued)

h)

i)

Available-for-sale financial assets:

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated or not classified as any of the
other categories (set out above).

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
assets are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale assets
fair value reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised
in the consolidated income statement, or until the
investment is determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement and removed from the
available-for-sale assets fair value reserve.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant
for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably
assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
securities are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Loan receivables:

Loan receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market, including placements with banks and
other financial institutions, investment debt securities
without an active market and loans and advances to
customers. Loan receivables are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Properties held for development:

Properties held for development are stated at the lower

of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is

determined by reference to sale proceeds received after

the end of the reporting period less selling expenses, or

by management estimates based on prevailing market

conditions.
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

i)

Properties held for development: (Continued)

Costs of properties include acquisition costs, development
expenditure, interest and other direct costs attributable
to such properties. The carrying values of properties held
by subsidiaries are adjusted in the consolidated financial
statements to reflect the Group’s actual acquisition costs
where appropriate.

Properties held for development included in the current
assets are expected to be realised, or is intended for sales in
the Group’s normal operation cycle.

Impairment of assets:

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

In case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale
financial assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the equity securities below their cost is considered in
determining whether the securities are impaired. Impairment
losses recognised in consolidated income statement on
equity securities are not reversed through consolidated
income statement.
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k)

Income tax expense:
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustments to tax payable in respect of previous years,
current tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Deferred taxation is recognised on all temporary differences
at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences except where the deferred tax liabilities
arise from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax assets
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward
of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be
utilised except where the deferred tax assets relating to
the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to
be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
sufficient future taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.
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For the year ended 31* March 2018 # £ &

JSE=ZH=+—HILERE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

k)

Income tax expense: (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
assets are realised or the liabilities are settled, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred taxation
is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred taxation is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Borrowing costs:

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
these assets until such times as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings

Investment income

pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing cost eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated
income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currency translation:

i) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

ii)  Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
m) Foreign currency translation: (Continued)

iii)  Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the Group’s
entities that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

a) assets and liabilities for each of the statement
of financial position presented are translated at
the closing rates at the date of that statement of
financial position;

b) income and expenses for each of the income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

c) the resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange reserve.

n) Financial guarantees issued, provision and contingencies:

i)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee (being the transaction price,
unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated)
is initially recognised as deferred income within trade
and other payables. Where consideration is received
or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is received or receivable,
an immediate expense is recognised in the consolidated
income statement on initial recognition of any deferred
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31* March 2018 # £ &

JSE=ZH=+—HILERE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

n) Financial guarantees issued, provision and contingencies:
(Continued)
i) Financial guarantees issued (Continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in the consolidated income
statement over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised if and when it becomes probable that
the holder of the guarantee will call upon the Group
under the guarantee, and the amount of that claim on
the Group is expected to exceed the amount currently
carried in trade and other payables in respect of that
guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation.

Provisions and contingencies

A provision is recognised when there is a present
obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past
event and it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed
regularly and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is
material, the amount of a provision is the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so the outflow is probable, it will then be
recognised as a provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue recognition:

0)

P)

q)

i)

i)

Commission and brokerage income, placement and
underwriting commission, management and handling
fees, corporate finance advisory fees and investment
management fee and performance fee are recognised
when the services are rendered, the amount for which
can be reliably estimated and it is probable that they will
be received.

Interest income is accrued, on a time proportion basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective rate applicable.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the period of the respective leases.

Sale of precious metal is recognised, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group
maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership; nor effective control
over the goods sold.

Operating lease:

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards

of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified

as operating leases. Receipts or payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are credited or expensed in the consolidated income

statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Related parties:

a)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

i) has significant influence over the Group; or

iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.
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For the year ended 31* March 2018 # £ &

JSE=ZH=+—HILERE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

q) Related parties: (Continued)

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

)

vi)

vii)

viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of a same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit or employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 8

PAN

8 M % ® R KW &

For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

r

s)

t)

Cash and cash equivalents:

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

Segment reporting:

Operating segments, and the amount of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Employees benefits:

The Group participates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) which is
available to all employees. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
by the Group and its employees are calculated based on
a percentage of employees’ relevant income. The Group’s
contributions to the fund are expensed as incurred and the
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administrated fund.

Payments to the Group’s MPF Scheme are charged to the
consolidated income statement as they fall due.

24 EREURRBEA)

r

s)

t)

RERRELEEY:
RERRERPERME  REeELBRE
ZEBNBEFERS LERHFN
NRAIERERSENEER S AE
BEEPRBRBELCEHRERDE
RE —REBAR=ZEANATTH
B REARBREELBUAEE
REEBZHEKEN 2 |ITEX °

7 ERERE
BEMBHRRFPIEENBRED
BEZEBERNBENTER I
EHRAAEESRRERERMADE
BREFHEARERER KRR R
B E -

RUBREME - BRI HBEEEMU
MEBSRREER MRBEE &
ETFGE EPRINER  AE
NEERIRERRE 2 TEREER
RZHEEHEN BASEEREED
BregETad - ERFERCEE

S8 MR ERABHEE BT
BITAH -
BIEA:

AEE2E-RHE LRSS (7
Bl UtMAEBRIZE - RS
A ETERRRER ZHBRA
BALEE - REE 2 HFNE AR
fERXEMEESE 2 EEMANKE
INZBITHRESHA

XN AR E 2 BE S H N B R R
HEWERAR -
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group did not use any critical accounting
estimates in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Impairment loss on trade receivables

The policy for impairment loss on trade receivables of the
Group is based on the evaluation of collectability, aging
analysis of accounts, the values of underlying collaterals and on
management’s judgment. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of those clients in default of settlement. If the financial
conditions of debtors and their ability to make payments are
worsen, additional impairment loss may be required.

Estimated fair value of investment properties

The fair values of investment properties are determined at the
end of the reporting period by an independent professional
valuer. Valuations were made on the basis of either, investment
approach by capitalizing the net rental income receivable from the
existing tenancies and the reversionary rental income potentials,
and residual approach by referencing to its development potential
by deducting costs and developer’s profits from its estimated
completed development value. These methodologies are based
upon estimates of future results and a set of assumptions as
to income and expenses of the property and future economic
conditions.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be
able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity reserves
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising mainly
issued share capital, other reserves and retained profits.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Certain subsidiaries of the Group are regulated by the Securities
and Futures Commission (the “SFC”), and a subsidiary which is a
member of the Chinese Gold and Silver Exchange (“CGSE”), they
are required to comply with certain minimum capital requirements
according to the rules of the SFC and the CGSE.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

EXEREE (&)
AEEETHBRARAXEFANBEEBER
zee((BEg) L HNBATAER
XEPHIeREBHGICCEMEE
RELNRAKBEEEREREEFH L
RABTETREBERER

ARREZBFFEHENERE - BHE
ARAREEERE BRI EAKA KA
B AEERBEFZEZEBREIK
EREBETHRAFELHELRES -

BT AEDHE
RREPARZEMBTAZEREDT

Financial assets BRERE
(In HK$'000) (BB FTREN) 2018 2017
Loan and receivables, at amortised cost REENAAR ZER
R W HIE
Trade and other receivables and deposits BHREMERFERRS 540,235 711,666
Other assets Hpp&E 5,200 5,200
Bank balances and cash RITEHRLRR 2 588,598 361,876
1,134,033 1,078,742
Available-for-sale financial assets, at cost AREEVBEE - RKAK 136 136
Financial assets at fair value through BATEREERSIEZ
profit or loss MBEE - 110,000
1,134,169 1,188,878
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued) 5. BHIBEDHE (&)

Financial liabilities Bkas

(In HK$'000) (BB T 5817) 2018 2017

At amortised cost bios: X ]2 WN
Borrowings B 3,599 28,109
Amount due to related parties JE 1 BB A T 50IR 2,120 2,923
Amount due to ultimate holding company JE AT S AR A B TR IE 99,309 63,269
Creditors and accrued expenses ENRERESER 116,619 173,916

221,647 268,217
6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 6. HMERKBEEBERBE

POLICIES

a)

Financial risk factors:

The Group’s major financial instruments comprise trade and
other receivables, deposits, other assets, bank balances and
cash, available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, borrowings, amounts due to
related parties, amount due to ultimate holding company and
creditors and accrued expenses.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)
a) Financial risk factors: (Continued)

i)

i)

Credit risk

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the
risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts
in full when due. Impairment provisions are provided
for losses that have been incurred by the end of the
reporting period, if any. The Group is responsible for
monitoring the amount of credit exposure to any financial
institution.

The concentration risk to major customers is set out in
note 7(b)(iii) on the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group invests in unlisted securities which are
designated as available-for-sale financial assets. Those
unlisted securities may not be traded in an organised
public market and may be illiquid. As a result, the Group
may not be able to liquidate quickly its investments
in these instruments at an amount close to their fair
value in order to meet its liquidity requirements or to
respond to specific events such as deterioration in
the creditworthiness of any particular issuer. Prudent
liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient
cash and marketable securities, the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of credit facilities
and the ability to close out market positions.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. For
non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of the
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

6. UBEAREEEEREE(E)

a) HREBREZE: (&)

)

EEmE

AEEAH EERRTIRSZ
B REEREX N D HEN
HRZER - REBEMREELE
ZEE (NA) THRBRERER -
AKERBERAEANBEE
ZEEERR -

TERFERERERGARE
BRMET (o)) HNH

Vil
AKBRENF LRSS 7
BRABHEMBEE - 25
IREHFAREIFRABTEL
ARMGEE SORBEARES
e At - NEE R B EA N
ARETARFEZFREDRE
BENHETREZKRE  UEMNK
KEIRBDESTRROERET
i PIINEARERTAZE
BEXKFBIL - BEZRDESRA
REE BERZLAFENRSR
BERS BRFERANZIEER
BENERAHEIAES - RE
EmGET 28N -

TRAEASIAEENHBRE
ZAEREMSR - TR ZHEE
EEBINMEMBREZRTE
ANERINAEEREERT
ZBH - TIRBERELRE R
FEZRERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31* March 2018 # £ &

POLICIES (Continued)

JSE=ZH=+—HILERE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

a) Financial risk factors: (Continued)

i) Liquidity risk (Continued)

2018
Borrowings

Amounts due to related parties
Amount due to ultimate holding

company

Creditors and accrued expenses

2017
Borrowings

Amounts due to related parties
Amount due to ultimate holding

company

Creditors and accrued expenses

iii)  Interest rate risk

&3
TR A

FﬁrﬂV%“Tﬁﬁ

ENRBRENRR

£
BRABALY
iy

ERHERENER

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
per annum
MY
ERERIE
%

2.6

16-25

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the

Group’s borrowings from financial institution, other

loans, bank deposits, interest-bearing loan receivable

and margin client receivables.

The majority of the borrowings bear interest at interest

rates with reference to the HIBOR whereas loans to

customers bear interest at interest rates with reference

to the prime rate. As the prime rate in Hong Kong

basically changes in line with the HIBOR, the Group’s

exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates

is minimal.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )

BREREEREREK (&)

a) HERBRREZ: (8)
i) REBEZEE ()

Total

Carrying contractual
amount  undiscounted  Repayable on
at 31¢! March cash flows demand
RZA=+-B  AN(RA) RARBAK
REE ReR2&s B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
3,599 (3,599) (3,599)
2,120 (2,120) (2,120)
99,309 (99,309) (99,309)
116,619 (116,619) (116,619)
221,647 (221,647) (221,647)
28,109 (28,109) (28,109)
2,923 (2,923) (2,923)
63,269 (63,269) (63,269)
173,916 (173,916) (173,916)
268,217 (268,217) (268,217)

i) FEE

AEENERREIEHEER

MIEHBE - EBER

75 MANSREES
EPRWHAEL -

»

CER1T
AR

B RITERANELBERR

TREFE  MERTFEFHE

i%@\\

&
M) 2 228 80 [ B 1

2REEBIER - INERER
BEMEREAN FRFBRITAZ
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

POLICIES (Continued)

a)

b)

6. UBEAREEEEREE(E)

Financial risk factors: (Continued) a) HBEBREZE: (&)
iii)  Interest rate risk (Continued) i) FIEE ()
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TR RAEBBRF AN A (&
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all Elx%?bﬂ R MEA R SR
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before PR BERRBRATE) A
tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings, %.%\ HAUXAREEBEN
interest-bearing accounts receivables, loans and BURMEI At RER K TR -
advances) and the Group’s equity.
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in Increase/
(decrease) in profit before (decrease)
basis points taxation in equity
HEHZ MRELANR R 2 BHz
(In HK$'000) (LB FTREN) @ Ohd)  ®BmORL)  #ORA)
2018 ZE-NE
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 3,832 3,200
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) (3,832) (3,200)
2017 —T—+%F
Hong Kong dollars BT 50 3,502 3,108
Hong Kong dollars BT (50) (3,502) (3,108)
iv)  Foreign currency risk iv)  SMEE
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily $‘§I7¥Kx2 =BREREERAB
through transactions which gives rise to bank balances RPUNNE 2 REVRITEE R R A
and borrowings that are denominated in a foreign MRS BEEBLNEE
currency, i.e. a currency other than functional currency BUAMNEMER - EBUEER
of the operations to which the transactions relate. The BwEBEERZET([ET])
currency giving rise to this risk is primarily United States
dollars (“USD”).
Since USD are pegged to Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”), HRESEBT ([HT]) B
the Group considers risk of movements in exchange FEERERBETRETER
rates between the HKD and USD to be insignificant. BT RE - AW ARAEH
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis with respect to USD ETHGREDTES
is presented.
Fair values: b) AFEfG:

Fair value of financial instruments carried amount at other
than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost are not materially different from their fair

values as at 31 March, 2018 and 31t March, 2017.

HURFEFEZH B LR ZFE

AEBERAEROMETANKE
BERER-_Z-NF=ZA=T—RAK

—t£ZA=+—A2A

RUBBERER -

FES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

7. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEREESHER
a) Revenue: a) W& :
(In HK$'000) (BB TFTREN) 2018 2017
Commission and brokerage income BHERLZBERER
from securities broking AW A 9,760 7,492
Commission and brokerage income Hesr e hEr
from futures broking Bl A 388 896
Interest income from AN PN
- margin clients —HEEP 11,952 11,715
- money lending —-BEXmE 62,421 51,644
- financial institutions and others — RS R Al SRR 3,343 3,435
Management and handling fees EEEFEE 1,159 968
Commission for subscribing new shares ~ REH KRB 16 232
Placement and underwriting commission & R a4 - 14,822
Investment management fee REERE 2,565 2,468
Rental income HEW = 25,503 24 557
Sales of precious metal ELEHE 7,535 197,462
Performance fee =EME - 1,824
124,642 317,515

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= 8 B B | R M &

For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

7. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. REREBEIHEN ()
(Continued)
b) Operating segment information: b) #EFBER:
i) Reportable operating segments ) EHEEDH

For management purposes, the Group is currently HERERE  ARERBREKE

organised into business units based on their products oh R ARSI E A B RS HBM R

and services and has seven reportable operating E2®LESH - DHREL

segments namely broking, financing, corporate finance, M- LXBE - BERE W

assets management, property investment, precious ARE - BECBERELRAR

metal trading and investment holding. B -

Reportable operating segments are as follows: EREENHWT

Broking Securities brokerage and e BAEERAE
futures brokerage &a

Financing Securities margin financing 81 7 B ITRBME R
and money lending R

Corporate finance Corporate finance advisory, EXBME CXBAEBRR-
placing and underwriting RRERBH

Assets management  Assets management for listed AEER  RLMKIFELD
and unlisted companies and ARRREE
high net worth individuals FEZERE

REER

Property investment Property rental and related MERE YEZN-PNEEL
dealing S

Precious metal trading ~ Precious metal trading EeBEE =ScEER

Investment holding Share investments REEZEKR  BROHKRE

An analysis of segment information of the Group on AEERZZRLEEDHREE

these reportable operating segments for the years —E-N\F=A=t—-HRK=F%

ended 31 March, 2018 and 31 March, 2017 is as —tF=A=T-ALFEZD

follows: BEBDWFWT :

(In HK$'000) (LERFrBEN) 2018 2017

Segment revenue Pl 6

Broking S 11,307 9,359

Financing B 77,307 64,539

Corporate finance ERE 16 15,054

Assets management BEER 2,565 4,293

Property investment MERE 25,912 26,764

Precious metal trading E¢BEE 7,535 197,506

Investment holding BEER - 5

124,642 S17,918
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

7. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 12
(Continued)

b) Operating segment information: (Continued) b) EESBER: (&)

a measure of profit before tax.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )

i) Reportable operating segments (Continued) ) ZEHLEDH(E)
(In HK$'000) (UEETTmEL) 2018 2017
Segment results DEELE
Broking SN 1,162 (328)
Financing 8% 68,371 55,317
Corporate finance TERE 7 11,421
Assets management EEEH 1,552 3,214
Property investment MERE 20,562 21,896
Precious metal trading E4EBES (703) (930)
Investment holding REER = i
90,951 90,590

Net increase in fair value of REMEATELZ

investment properties FRIER 115,000 150,000
Bad debts written off (net) ZERME OFE) (267) (587)
Provision of impairment loss on E SRR REEE

trade receivables (net) B CEE) (34,946) (1,896)
Other revenue =g 921 639
Share of results of an associate EEE SN E 2 £E (6,155) (4,662)
Profit before taxation B 1 A = K 165,504 234,084
Income tax expense SRR X (1,921) (8,234)
Profit for the year F R HEF 163,583 225,850
Management monitors the results of the Group’s EEERNERAEEEREE
operating segments separately for the purpose of Db EE - ERE RS ER
making decisions about resources allocation and RRTHER - A BRBREE
performance assessment. Segment performance is T 2 ® 5 & F (SARR 5% A1 % A
evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is FHE) AT o
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

7. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. BWEREEIHBEN(B)
(Continued)
b) Operating segment information: (Continued) b) ERLEN: (&
i) Reportable operating segments (Continued) ) EHEESE(E)
An analysis of segment information of the Group on AREBRZEZHEEDTRNE
these reportable operating segments for the years 22— \E=ZA=+—HEk=
ended 31t March, 2018 and 31t March, 2017 is as E—+F=ZA=Z+—HIFEZ
follows: DEERINOAT
Segment assets Interests in an associate ~ Unallocated corporate assets Consolidated
BENE REE LR ER FABLEEE &4

(HK$000) (LEETTREN) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Assets gE

Broking ag 131,398 141,895 = = = = = =
Financing B 620,948 627,817 - = - = - =
Corporate finance tEpE - - - = - = - =
Assets management BEER 5,251 4631 - - - - - =
Property investment NERE 1,724,344 1656186 47,923 49,124 = - = =
Investment holding RERR 3,011 3,011 - - - - - -
Precious metal trading ESEEE 190,251 172,387 - - - - - -
Inter-segment elimination B4 (13,224) (17,341) - - - - - -
Consolidated A 2,661,979 2,588,586 47,923 49,124 3470 3,178 2,713,372 2,640,888

Segment liabilities Interests in an associate  Unallocated corporate liabilities Consolidated
8EAE REENT2EE FrEbEEE &a

(HK$000) (LEEFTREN) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Liabilities &f

Broking ag 98,796 103,409 - - - - - -
Financing g 22,439 21,675 - = - = - =
Corporate finance rERE - = - = - = - =
Assets management BEER 8 75 - = - = - =
Property investment VES 105,210 98,681 - - = - = -
Investment holding RERER 114 73 = = = = = =
Precious metal trading REEEE 3,876 3,375 - - - = = =
Inter-segment elimnation ~ HERAH (13224)  (17341) - - - - - -
Consolidated B4 27289 200047 - - 4916 60029 22205 269976
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

MENTS

7. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WEREESIBER(E)
(Continued)
b) Operating segment information: (Continued) b) Z2REESH: (#)
i) Reportable operating segments (Continued) ) EWEELH(E
Provision of
impairment loss on trade Bad debts written off/
Capital expenditure Depreciation receivables - net (recovery)
ESRUFHERE
BAEX i RfE- B SEEH S/ (k)

(HK$000) (LEEFTAREN) 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Other segment information  Ef15 &4

Broking et 59 151 137 144 - = ) -
Financing ) = = 49 87 34,946 1,896 268 587
Corporate finance RS - - - - - - - -
Assets management EEEE - - - - - - - -
Property investment nERE 304 - 21 20 - - - -
Investment holding RERR - - - - - - - -
Precious metal trading EEEBEE - - 1 1 - - - -
Inter-segment elimination B - - - - - - - -
Consolidated A 453 151 208 262 34,946 1,896 267 587

ii)  Geographical information i) HEEH

The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong
Kong, Macau and People’s Republic of China. The
Group’s administration is carried out in Hong Kong.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from external customers by geographical
market and analysis of non-current assets by the
geographical location in which assets are located other
than available-for-sale financial assets, trade and other
receivables, deposits and prepayments, other assets
and deferred tax assets.

Revenue from
external customers

AEBzEEFEUNEE B
PIRPEARENE - AEEZ
TRAREBHELT

TREHAEBRIE TSI
BEPRED N RIRZEEME
wEZIFFRBEEDN (A
EMBEE - 5 REMEKK
B BERANTEREMEE
RIERFLIAFRSIN) o

Non-current assets

RENBEFE 2z FRBEE
(In HK$'000) (LB FrREN) 2018 2017 2018 2017
Hong Kong B 96,637 290,020 2,725 2,465
Macau pil] 28,005 27,495 1,511,605 1,396,620
People’s Republic hEARLME
of China - - 47,923 49,124

124,642 SillaSills, 1,562,253 1,448,209

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

7. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WakeEBIHER (F)
(Continued)
b) Operating segment information: (Continued) b) EHRLEES: (&)
i) Information about major customers i) TEEFEH
The Group’s five largest customers accounted for AEBZRARBEFEHENER
in aggregate approximately 20% (2017: 70%) of the EB W E20% (ZFE— L F:
Group’s revenue. 70%) ©
Revenue from customers of the Group for the year HE-ZT-/\F=A=1+—HiLt
ended 31t March, 2018 contributing over 10% of the FERFPRBMHAEEE KR
total revenue of the Group is as follows: 10%2A E3A T
2018 2017
(In HK$°000) (LB FTREN) —E-N\EF —E—tF
Customer Al EEA! - 188,652
Note: K-
J No customer of the Group for the year ended 31 March, L HE_Z-N\F=A=+—H
2018 has contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the IHFE  AEEVEARNER
Group (2017: Revenue from the customer contributing EASEBWRZEI10%U £ (=
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group was generated T—tF HAEEB RS
from precious metal trading segment). 10% A EXFPRERERES
BEEHI) -
FINANCE COSTS 8. HMERK
(In HK$'000) (LB FriEl) 2018 2017
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts RITEFRBEIFERAZ 260 51
Interest on other loans, wholly repayable HEuERFERY
within five years REFNEBEER 119 109
379 160
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x K O

For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. BRBADEF

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging and BEADRAE B M ATHSIE

102

crediting the following:

(In HK$'000) (KB FTRENL) 2018 2017
Charging: Bk -
Auditors’ remuneration % BB &
- current year —AREFE 694 648
— underprovision in prior year —“BEEREBIR 22 12
716 660
Staff costs IR
— salaries, bonuses and other benefits — e TANEMER 13,859 14,004
— contributions to retirement schemes —RIRET 8l 2 B3R 432 449
14,291 14,453
Depreciation e 208 252
Bad debts written off (net) IR OFE) 267 587
Operating leases rentals in respect HEME REHERS
of rented premises 1,216 1,216
Crediting: EEIPANE
Rental income from operating leases KEREREWAR T
less outgoings (gross rental income: (A& W AR : 25,503,000/ 7T
HK$25,503,000 (2017: HK$24,556,000))  (=ZF—-+t4F : 24,556,000/ 7T)) 22,658 22,385
Dividend income from unlisted investment 3k F 1 #% & 7 ig 24 A 8 8

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B & B B | & KM O

For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10. ESREREEENS
REMUNERATION
a) Directors’ emoluments: a) EEMe
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 REENHE_ T - N\E=/A=1+—
March, 2018 is set out below: HItFEZME&EH 0T
Basic
salaries,
housing Discretionary
henefits, honuses
other andlor
allowances  Retirement  performance- Compensation  Inducement
and benefits benefits related forloss for joining
Fees inkind  contributions honuses of office the Group Total
Exge-
BEEA higwa &
HfpRER £ k/4 K50
(In HK8000) (LEETTAEl) ik LY ERIMR Ll L PEL ) st
Non-executive directors: FanES:
Mr. Ip Man Tin, David ERRiE 50 = - - = - 50
Mr. Sze Ping Fat BT 50 - - - - - 50
Executive directors: #1ES:
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Amie B /ME - 429 19 19 - - 467
Mr.Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew — BER%% - 269 13 19 = - 301
Mir. Mok Kwai Hang REEEE - 1458 - 123 - - 1,581
Independent non-executive ~ BIFEHTES:
directors:
Mir. Chan Chung Yee, Alan Bt 50 - - - - - 50
Mr. Poon Kai Tik ARHLE 50 - = - - - 50
Mir. Hui Man Ho, Ivan FELE 50 - - - - - 50
20 2,156 7 161 - - 2,599
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= & B B | x K O

For the year ended 31" March 2018 #& % &2 — )\4E=H =+—H L4

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10. EBREREEENE (&)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) a) EEME(E)
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31 REENHE T —t+E=A=1+—
March, 2017 is set out below: AEFEzMeEHNMT
Basic
salaries,
housing Discretionary
benefits, bonuses
other andfor
allowances Retirement  performance-  Compensation  Inducement
and benefits benefits related for loss for joining
Fees inkind  contributions honuses of office the Group Total
Erge
BERH BiERA nE
Efh2ER & R/3 A5H
(In HK$ 000) (LEETTREl) k2 BNl BHER BMa BREE %8 3t
Non-execuive directors: FanES:
Mr. Ip Man Tin, David ERRtE 50 - - - - - 50
Mr. Sz Ping Fat HmETE 50 - - - - - 50
Executive directors: #1ES:
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Amie ~ BE%ME - 613 % 19 - = 658
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew ~ BIfE %4 - 25 13 19 - - 2%7
Mr. Mok Kwai Hang REEEE - 1470 - 122 = - 1502
Independent non-executive ~ BUFEHTEE:
directors:
Mr. Chan Chung Yee, Alan [ St 50 - - - - - 50
Mr. Poon Kai Tik ERELE 50 - - - - - 50
Mir. Hui Man Ho, Ivan kL E 50 - - - - - 50
20 2338 3 160 g - 2781
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10.

11.

REMUNERATION (Continued)
b) Details of emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
(including directors and other employees) are:

EEREAEEEMS (&)

b) EEBREFMAL(AEESRHEM
BE) 2B 1

(In HK$°000) (BB TFTREN) 2018 2017
Fee we - =
Basic salaries EX%e 3,964 4,052
Housing benefits, other allowances FE®AH - H2h,
and benefits in kind REYH &= - =
Retirement benefits contributions BARBRHZR 72 80
Discretionary bonuses and/or BIBTEA R/ BB
performance-related bonuses 278 305
Compensation for loss of office BER AR (B = =
Inducement for joining the Group MBAREE 2 12 = 5
4,314 4,437

For the year ended 31¢ March, 2018, one (2017: two) of the
five highest paid individuals were executive directors of the
Company, whose emoluments are included in note 10(a).

Analysis of the emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals (including directors and other employees) by
number of individuals and emolument ranges is as follows:

RZZE—N\F=ZA=+—BLFE
hEsaiMATEY & (ZT—+
FRB)BEARAERITES  FEZ
< B #HPHTFE10(a)

IEBRRFMAL (BRESRAME
B)RABEMEBEDTEIINT :

2018 2017
Nil to HK$1,000,000 251,000,000/ 7T 4 4
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,0013% 7T 21,500,000 7t - -
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,0015% 7T 22,000,000 & 1 1

EARNINGS PER SHARE 1. SE&H

The basic earnings per share is based on the Group's profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$163,603,000 (2017: HK$225,867,000) and the number of
2,682,316,758 (2017: 2,682,316,758) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.

BREXGENDIBREARAESFAA
JE 4 A< &= B35 F 49163,603,000/8 70 (= F
—+4F : 225,867,00087T) R AFEEE %
11& 1 f%2,682,316, 758 (ZE —+4F ¢
2682,316,758%) 5T & °

ARTLE B BRI BRRGE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
a8 B B & x K =

s

For the year ended 31* March 2018 # £ &

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

a)

b)

c)

JSE=ZH=+—HILERE

12. FIEHBX

Income tax expense in the consolidated income statement a) HmelERZMEHAZE:
represents:
(In HK$'000) (BB T T mEl) 2018 2017
Hong Kong profits tax BEBER
— current year - REE 8,204 6,893
— overprovision in prior year —RIFERERE (79) (241)
Deferred taxation — note 12(d) EIERITE — K 5E12(d) (6,204) i
1,921 6,652
Overseas tax paid EHBINHIAE - 1,582
1,921 8,234
i) Provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made b) i) BEMERIDNEARBEE

at the rate of 16.5% (2017:
assessable profit for the year.

16.5%) on the estimated

i) No provision for overseas taxation has been made as the

amount is insignificant.

EZfhE BIRERTUR R R =

16.5% (ZZE—+ 4% :
1 e

16.5% )

i) HAREIMIBIRELIEKX

R 1t 3 R B A o

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the c) AFEMESHHAXTEGERARZ
profit before taxation per the consolidated income statement BRELADE R L IR -
as follows:
(In HK$'000) (LEEFTRER) 2018 2017
Profit before taxation B& 5 A1 & A 165,504 234,084
Tax at the statutory income tax rate RETEMEHZE16.5%

of 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) (ZZ—+F:165%):tE2F A 27,308 38,624
Tax effect of net increase in fair value of BENMELNTE EERNBEEE

investment properties (18,975) (24,750)
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue TERBR I MENB BT E (8,389) (6,307)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TEMBR ATNBEY 2 2,077 1,517
Tax effect of previously unrecognised ZRIRABROE R

temporary difference ZENBKTE (394) -
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary AEANEBHEZENFRGTE

differences 3 263
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ABERZREEENHETE 370 244
Utilisation of tax losses previously FERNEAERZHEESE

not recognised - (2,699)
Overprovision in prior year NEFERERE (79) (241)
Overprovision in current year AEERERE = 1
Overseas tax paid B &8I IR - 1,582
Income tax expense FIE R 1,921 8,234

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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13.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B & B B | & KM O

For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
d) Deferred taxation:

12. FIBHRAX (&)

d) EEBIE:

Provision for

impairment  Accelerated

loss on trade tax
receivable  depreciation Total
g5 RN
FIBRE iz
EERE HISHE s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FET
At 1t April, 2016 RZE—R"FWOA—H - = =
Deferred tax credited to BB ABR
profit or loss - . =
At 315 March, 2017 and RZZE—+F=A=+—H
1st April, 2017 kZZT—tFMA—H = - =
Deferred tax credited to EXERIEG ABR
profit or loss (6,200) (4) (6,204)
At 31t March, 2018 RZE-NF=ZA=+—H (6,200) (4) (6,204)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unutilized tax
losses of approximately HK$9,058,000 (2017: HK$7,102,000)
available for offsetting against future taxable profits. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future
taxable profits. The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

RBEHKRA - NREEA A HKHRRER
Bim F) 2 R B) A 75 &5 18 499,058,000 7T
(ZZ—+4% : 7,102,000 7T) ° AR KA
FER KRR ERBREF 2 B0 - B U 4
RELERBEE - HHEBEIERBLES -

DIVIDENDS 13. RE
(In HK$°000) (LOBETTRAZEN) 2018 2017
Final dividends proposed of HK1.8 cents BRERDKE - FREBRT.875(

(2017: HK1.8 cents) per ordinary share (ZZ—+F : 1.8#1l) 48,282 48,282
Special dividends proposed of HK1.8 cents REERAIRE - SRE@BR1.87 L

(2017: Nil cents) per ordinary share (ZT—+F: &) 48,282 =

The amount of the proposed final dividends for the year ended
31st March, 2018 of HK1.8 cents per ordinary share and special
dividends of HK1.8 cents per ordinary share will be payable in
cash and is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

BE_Z-\F=A=+—HILFEZEH
R B AERE B8 Il K5 Rl 8
AERERRK.SEI - Y HARS M
HEARBKETZRRBFAE LBEK
RULAER  TAKE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y MERFRE
Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and Motor
buildings  equipment vehicles Total
HE HE £B
(In HK$'000) (WEETFTAZEN) THREF NET AE B
Net book value as at REFE
1=t April, 2016 (note i) RZZE-AENA—AB (FH:F) 640 400 116 1,156
Additions NE - 151 - 151
Disposal HE = (10) ~ (10)
Depreciation nE (20) (162) (70) (252)
Net book value as at REFE
31s March, 2017 R-FB—+&=A=1+—H 620 379 46 1,045
At 31¢ March, 2017 RZE—tF=f=1—H
Cost XA 900 6,325 1,381 8,606
Accumulated depreciation ZRME (280) (5,946) (1,335) (7,561)
Net book value REFE 620 379 46 1,045
Net book value as at REFE
1t April, 2017 R-ZZ2—t5MA-H 620 379 46 1,045
Additions B 387 66 - 453
Disposal HE - - - -
Depreciation nE (20) (142) (46) (208)
Net book value as at REFE
31st March, 2018 RZE-NE=ZA=+—H 987 303 - 1,290
At 31t March, 2018 R-ZE-N\$=ZA=t-H
Cost A 1,287 6,377 1,381 9,045
Accumulated depreciation ZENE (300) (6,074) (1,381) (7,755)
Net book value REFE 987 303 - 1,290
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B & B B | & KM O

For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes:

) The analysis of net book value as at 15t April, 2016 was as follows:

14. V1% BFERRE(E)
et :

) RIE-RFEA-HZEEFESTH

T
Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and Motor

buildings equipment vehicles Total

HE KRAE-#£B
(In HK$'000) (BT RERN) T REF R&B AE LR
Cost (BN 900 6,185 1,382 8,467
Accumulated depreciation RETE (260) (5,785) (1,266) (7,311)
Net book value BREFE 640 400 116 1,156

i) The total cost of property, plant and equipment disposed during the
year was approximately HK$Nil (2017: HK$12,000).

iii)  The leasehold land and buildings are situated in Macau and Hong
Kong and both are under medium-term lease.

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

i) RAFEHEME BIRRBEKKLY
AEELT(ZE—+t%F:12,000% ) -

i)y PHEANEELMREFUNRMARE
7 o

15. REWE

(In HK$'000) (LB TFTREN) 2018 2017
Fair value: NEE
At 15t April R A—H 1,396,000 1,246,000
Net increase in fair value recognised inthe  RAFEZERZFED
consolidated income statement RiGA M mRER 115,000 150,000
At 31st March R=A=+—H 1,511,000 1,396,000

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Macau and are
held under medium-term lease.

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
leases.

The Group has pledged certain of its investment properties with
aggregate carrying value of approximately HK$1,290,000,000
(2017: HK$1,185,000,000) to a bank to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group.

AKE 2 BREYREMTORF R AT B
BE-

ARBURZHELABLRENE -
AEBEHEMETRENDET —HRTHE
ARASEERE-RBETHEZERR

H R EEX A1,290,000,0008 © (==
—+ £ : 1,185,000,000/& 7T) °
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

i)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:

e |evel 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market
data are not available

e  |Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

15. ®E

i)

M (&)

AFEESR
TRENFTGREREREERER RS
HARBEERVBRS LS+ =%
AVEEFERRT N Z=ZEAFE
BERT ULV EEFHEAKEZ
BEME - 2YEEFERBESER
ZHE - 2R TINEREETE
RBABB IBRERERE

o FIEME: RERFIEHAHK
B EELYEE  IRFER
NHREESABREETS L
AEHRERE

o F2EME:EAF2ERAZUE
AEBERFEE BRETESE
1BZABEEGAZEENMER
BANAERGAZE - A E
ERABB MBI RERE
ZBABE

o FIBME: NBABERTAE
EHBAFERFERE

Fair value Fair value measurement
AR LAFEESERRAES
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(In HK$000) (LOBETTAEN) F1E E2E $IE
Recurring fair value measurement & EHEQAF(EEE
2018 —E-N\f
Investment properties REME
- Commercial - Macau —BH-BM 1,290,000 - - 1,290,000
- Residential - Macau —FE-2H 221,000 - - 221,000
2017 Sl o3
Investment properties REME
- Commercial - Macau - A -EM 1,185,000 - - 1,185,000
- Residential - Macau —fEE RN 211,000 - - 211,000

During the years ended 31t March, 2018 and 31t March,
2017, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at
the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Valuation process

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
March, 2018 and 31t March, 2017 have been arrived at
on the basis of a valuation carried out at that date by LCH
(Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, independent qualified
professional valuers not connected with the Group.

if)

i)

Investment properties were valued on open market basis.

Valuation methodologies

Investment properties valuation was determined using the

following approaches:

a)

Income capitalisation approach

In the valuation, the market rentals of all lettable units
of the properties are assessed by reference to the
rentals achieved in the lettable units as well as other
lettings of similar properties in the neighbourhood.
The capitalisation rate adopted is made by reference
to the yield rates observed by the valuers for the
similar properties in the locality and adjusted based
on the valuers’ knowledge of the factors specific to the
respective properties. The most significant unobservable
inputs into this valuation approach are monthly market
rent and the capitalisation rate.

Residual approach

The residual approach is valued by referencing to
its development potential by deducting costs and
developer’s profits from its estimated completed
development value. It relies upon a series of
assumptions made by the valuers which produce an
arithmetical calculation of the expected current sale
value as at the valuation date of the property being
developed or held for development or redevelopment. A
range of values may be attributable to the subject land
depending upon the assumption mode.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the highest and best use of the properties is their current
use.

15. REWE (&)
AHhBE
ARBER-_F-NE=ZA=1t—-8k

i)

i)

L

T—tF-A=T—HZEBEYHE

WRAFEDRERE T EXEEMM
ROTREMBERARMETZEBERT
IEREE - RENR ZHETIRAH
mEERE-

B1ER %
REMEGERBUATIERE

WAB KA

EfHER  MEMRA A HBEEN
HmEHENE2Z R HBEM
AR T B B R M TR
ERETTRHE - FIRAERE
LRTB2ZRGEMABEINE
EEUNEORER - FER
HEMSHENEFERRNR
AMAE - EEGEDEIREX
TABRBAZEEEAMSHE
ERERHLE -

Repx

NS ZRREMENERE

W2 EHZRE G NEERE
BRI A R B R A&
18 - B SEmMGEREL— &7
RRMEE L EAERRIFFER
RIERZDER TG B BN
HEEE - HENKEEAERR
BT mE R — R RRM

=

E°

REF MR AFEERS - B
WEzRSREERGISEE
Al i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
iv) Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the

15. REME (&)
iv) UWTRREMEREMRBZGEET

key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: ERFEHAHBZHE
Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Range
fHER* EXTAHERARE gE
2018 2017
Commercial properties Income capitalisation approach
ElEEAES WAB R
- shop Capitalisation rate 2.0 -2.8% 1.7-22%
- A B R 2.0 - 2.8% 1.7-2.2%
- car parking Capitalisation rate 1.7 -1.8% 1.7 -1.8%
- By BARH X 1.7-1.8% 1.7-1.8%

Residential development Residual approach
-FEEE FgrE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trading rights in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Hong

Kong Futures Exchange

Discount rate 5% per annum 5% per annum

rIf & 5%BEE 5% FEFEE

16. BEE
BRMRIREBHRIM IR 51

(In HK$'000) (LB TFTRENL) 2018 2017
Cost at 1 April and 31¢t March, REA—BR=ZA=+—HZMAE "

net of accumulated amortisation SHEHEEKAFE 2,040 2,040
Cost (gross carrying amount) PR (BRI 48 18) 3,400 3,400
Accumulated amortisation (1,360) (1,360)
Net carrying amount 2,040 2,040

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

17 8

8 B B & x W =

For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

17. RBELQT2BEH

(In HK$'000) (LEBFTtREl) 2018 2017
Unlisted investment, at cost FETERE  BEAE 73,691 73,691
Share of post-acquisition profits less losses &1 Ui B8 12 F0 5% E5 18 18 % 7| (25,649) (19,494)
Exchange differences arising on translation #E &8I EEES ZEN EZ5
of foreign operations (119) (5,073)
47,923 49,124

The Group’s interest in its principal associate which is unlisted,

was as follows:

Particulars Form of Percentage of
of issued business Place of effective interest
Name of associate shares held structure incorporation attributable to the Group  Principal activities
BEERM XBER it B 32
BENAEMR RAGHE i B rEEERERED L TEER
Quan Zhou Meiyu Registered capital Incorporated The People’s 30% Property
Limited RMB60,000,000 Republic of China Development
RMEREZBRRA & A % REAR NEER
AR #60,000,000 HAE
The interest in associate is held in trust by a director of the Group e AR AEREERRASEN
on behalf of a subsidiary of the Group. BRARINEEARFE -
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17.

18.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )

8 B % & & B =

For the year ended 31* March 2018 # £ &

JSE=ZH=+—HILERE

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
Summarized financial information of the material associate,

adjusted for any difference in accounting policies, and reconciled

to the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements,

are disclosed below:

17. E"Hﬁﬁ%“?zﬁé (%)
BRZHERNT

SHHRERCHE

R M BEREEEE AEORER B

SEWEMT

Quan Zhou Meiyu Limited
EMEREXERRAF

(In HK$'000) (BB TTREN) 2018 2017
Summarized statement of MR REE

financial position
Current assets REEE 714,952 560,272
Non-current assets FERBEE 58,669 54,829
Current liabilities mEEE (613,877) (370,207)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE - (81,147)
Equity Bz 159,744 163,747
Summarized statement of 2EKNERHBE

comprehensive income
Revenue & - -
Loss after tax BriiEE S (20,517) (15,538)
Other comprehensive income Hip 2 mE s - -
Total comprehensive expense FHMY B (20,517) (15,538)
Dividends received from associate BEAEZRE - =
Reconciled to the Group’s interest AEERBEARZ

in the associate EEHENOT
Net assets of the associate B NABEFE 159,744 163,747
Group's effective interest KEBZAEWER 30% 30%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate ZANE[E (G2 N FEEFE 47,923 49,124
Carrying amount in the consolidated REMBRELEEE

financial statements 47,923 49,124
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 18. AHENKEE
(In HK$'000) (LB TFTREN) 2018 2017
Unlisted equity investments, at cost I ETRAKRE - IR 136 136

As at the end of the reporting period,

the unlisted equity

investments, of which their fair values cannot be measured reliably,

are stated at cost.

RE|EHRKR KA EFEZFLTRA

RERFETERKREIE
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 19. EFRAMEBRAE REREMNNE
PREPAYMENTS
(In HK$'000) (LB F B ) 2018 2017
Amounts receivable arising from B %WZ &5 RHER
the ordinary course of business of JE W TR IE -
dealing in securities and options:
- Cash clients -HeKRP 25,619 37,577
— The SEHK Options Clearing —BRHREEERRLA
House Limited 2 2
- Hong Kong Securities Clearing —BERHRREERRAR
Company Limited 12 14,117
Amounts receivable arising from HEEBZHERHRS
the ordinary course of business of e FRIE
dealing in futures contracts:
- Clearing house —EE 1,621 2,634
Amounts receivable arising from =k %WZ%#%%%EE&%
the ordinary course of business of JE W R IE -
provision of securities margin financing:
- Clients (note) — &P (ffs) 140,412 130,875
Amounts receivable arising from HE %WZTE HESER
the ordinary course of business JE W R IE -
dealing in precious metal:
- Clients —-EF 746 181
- CGSE - ®REEHG 3 3
Interest-bearing loan receivables B A F B R E & 480,758 401,544
Accounts receivables e 45 B 5K 21 1,870
Other receivables H {th fE U R 5K 3,238 196,512
652,432 785,315
Less: Impairment loss on trade receivables 5 : B 5 FE R AR B (109,261) (74,434)
543,171 710,881
Deposits and prepayments we RENFIE 2,842 1,552
546,013 712,433
Portion classified as non-current assets DERBERBDEEDN (169,959) (97,756)
Portion classified as current assets DBEARBEEIH 376,054 614,677
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Note:  Margin client receivables after impairment loss of approximately
HK$102,835,000 (2017: HK$128,258,000) are repayable on
demand, bearing interest at market rate and secured by clients’
securities listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with a total
market value of approximately HK$229,869,000 as at 31 March,

2018 (2017: HK$191,307,000).

The settlement terms of cash and securities margin financing
clients arising from the business of dealing in securities are two
days after trade date, and of accounts receivable arising from the
business of dealing in futures contracts are one day after trade
date. No ageing analysis is disclosed as in the opinion of the
executive directors of the Company, the ageing analysis does not
give additional value in view of the nature of this business.

The movements in the impairment loss on trade receivables during
the year, including both specific and collective loss components,

are as follows:

19.

ESRHEMERRE BRERBNRE

&)

it BERABRZFEREFBREEBEED
102,835,000 T (Z T —+ & :
128,258,000/ 7t ) B 1 @A B B -
FERERMBMEHY  RUBEFR
BRI EMZEHFEER R
“E-NEZA=+-HETESH
/229,869,000 T (ZF —+ F :
191,307,000/ 7T) ©

REBFEBEXBRELNRE REFT
RBEEFERUGAENRR 7 AMARER
KEHESAORSEGMELHENFR
RZXHBE—REREE - ARARMTESER
R NLHZ AR R ERR DT
RZFROMELEGEE L TR it 8
SMEME -

RAFREZGRBFBERSE 2R ER

2018 2017
(In HK$'000) (BT BEN) —E-N\E T
At 15t April RO A—H 74,434 72,538
Provision of impairment loss (net) MERBERE(FE) 34,946 1,896
Uncollectible amount written off 85 4 SR Uk B 7 RE (119) -
At 315t March R=A=+—H 109,261 74,434

The ageing analysis of trade and other receivables not impaired is

B 5 RAMERIRRIL ERE 2 Rk

as follows: M
2018 2017
(In HK$°000) (BB FTREN) —E-N\F —E—+F
Neither past due nor impaired REHBRARBE 485,793 616,714
Past due: B
Less than 1 month past due BERNE—EA 2,580 16,862
1 to 3 months past due BH—Z==1EA 7,860 22,798
3 months to 1 year past due BHA=-@AZE—F 19,680 49,942
Over 1 year past due BB —F 27,258 4,565
57,378 94,167
543,171 710,881

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
a large number of diversified customers for whom there was no
recent history of default or covered by collaterals pledged with the
Group.

Receivables that were past due relate to a number of independent
customers and were reviewed by the directors with impairment
losses of approximately HK$109,261,000 made at 31 March, 2018
(2017: HK$74,434,000). Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no further impairment
loss is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are
considered fully recoverable.

OTHER ASSETS

19.

20.

EIREMEKHKIE ZERANNE
(%)
REBRARBE 2 BRI EED
kA HEEARNASE 2 ERREE
BRZRKETRRF

BERBCRIEEFDSEBLIRE &%
ERRRRSEAN T \F=A=1—
B 1E 8 B B 5 49109,261,0008 T (= F
— £ 174,434,000 70) c BB AEL
B ARRESZAE  UTABERZSEER
BELRERE FAEEEEETES
RE( - MZELEXDEE AT 2EKE -

HttEE

(In HK$'000) (LEMFTiRElr) 2018 2017
Hong Kong Securities Clearing EBPREEER AT

Company Limited

- Guarantee fund deposit —-REELSTFR 100 100

- Admission fee -AgBEH 100 100
Statutory deposit with the Stock Exchange — XA ER S 200 200
Statutory deposit with the Securities and BELMEEKERELTES

Futures Commission EERE 2,000 2,000
Reserve fund contribution to the BRAEEEEMERAAFEES

Stock Exchange Options Clearing

House Limited 1,300 1,300
Reserve fund contribution to the HKFE ERHEEEERAR #ES

Clearing Corporation Limited 1,500 1,500

5,200 5,200

INVENTORIES 21. FE
(In HK$'000) (LB T T RENL) 2018 2017
Precious metal, stated at cost BEeBUAKAE 20 23
PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT 22. BEREME
(In HK$'000) (BB TFTREN) 2018 2017
Properties held for development, at cost: BIEREYENRANGE

At 15t April RImAB—H 3,011 3,011

Additions NE - =

Disposal HE - -

At 31t March == 5 3,011 3,011

Annual Report 2018 %
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 23. WRITHEHSRES

(In HK$'000) (LB FrRE) 2018 2017
Cash at bank RITHE R

— General accounts -—RFO 299,489 62,337
Cash in hand Re 14 5
Non-pledged short-term bank deposits FEMERRTERREDA

with original maturity less than 3 months PR=EA 215,310 222,979
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkBe2EEY 514,813 285,321
Cash at bank RITH

- Trust accounts —=5EF A 61,695 64,963

- Segregated accounts - SHAEREFQ 2,090 1,692
Pledged short-term bank deposits with BREHRTERRIEA

original maturity less than 3 months LR=EA 10,000 10,000

588,598 361,876

Note: The amount represents fixed deposits pledged to a bank to secure

general banking facilities granted to the Group.

Wit - ARFREER T —ERITIENRFER -
ERAGSEERE-RRTBEZEN

=}
aA °

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFITOR 24. RAFERKARIIGZHBERE
LOSS
(In HK$000) (BB TFTAEN) 2018 2017
Unlisted convertible bonds, at fair value JEEmABRRES  AFE = 110,000

The Group invested in the convertible bond issued by Higson

Holdings Limited (“Higson”) amounted to HK$110,000,000.

The convertible bonds carried interest at 16.2% p.a. and accrued
monthly on a compound basis and is due on 5" September, 2017.
It was guaranteed by the ultimate controlling shareholders of
Higson by deeds of guaranty dated 25" August, 2016 and charged
on land located at Zhong Shan, China that is owned by a partially
owned subsidiary of Higson. The shares of the partially owned
subsidiary of Higson have been pledged to a subsidiary of the

Company.

The convertible bonds were disposed to an independent third

party during the year at the consideration of HK$110,000,000.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )

£ @ 4% & 7 fmHigson Holdings Limited
([Higson )#17{E{8110,000,0007% 7T .2 7]
BRES -

AMRESOMENEREE16.2%RIA%E
GEEGARFH UHNR=_T—tFNA
F A EIH o FHigsonA i 48122 % B 5 A R
ZE-RNENAZTRAMEIINERE
IR N A s HigsonFT 5 A B8 A #E 2 B
BRARA T —HRARPEH L2t ER
it © HigsonFTi% A 2 5 IR 1 2 T & A 71 &)
RECLEFLARA ZMBAF -

AHBRRESDAERARE110,000,0005
TRABIE=FLE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. BORROWINGS

B & B B | & KM O

For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

(In HK$'000) (UEEFTREN) 2018 2017
Borrowings comprise: BB
Bank loans RITER
— interest-bearing —iE - 25,000
Other loans HiER
- interest-bearing — it B 3,599 3,109
3,599 28,109
Analysed as: R I
Secured (note 15) BHEAR (HFE15) - 25,000
Unsecured i3] 3,599 3,109
3,599 28,109
Borrowings are repayable as follows: RTIIEERER 2 ER
Within one year or on demand —FRNIEAEMN 3,599 28,109

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as
follows:

AEBEFRZEBRANE (HESREHF
R)ZEEMT

2018 2017

Effective interest rates: BRI
Variable-rate borrowings pERSRr=EN

The fair value of the Group’s borrowings is not materially different
from the corresponding carrying amounts at the end of the
reporting period.

Included in borrowings are the following amount denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the group to which
they relate:

(In '000) (A FrBEm)

2.6% 1.6% -2.5%

RBEMR - AEEER R FEEREF
REETEEAZR -

ERBEUSEENEEE U2
B2 THIHE -

2018 2017

United States Dollars ET

462 400

Annual Report 2018 %
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

26. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES 26. FE{TEEE A LFUE
(In HK$'000) (UEEFTREN) 2018 2017
Amounts due to related parties 1 BB A L5008 ¢

- Related companies —BERF] 2,120 2,923

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and ENEAMALTZRBREET 25 RE
have no fixed terms of repayment. BB -

27. AMOUNT DUE TO ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY 27. ENEAERARRE
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of REAEERR RENEETERDY-
repayment.

28. CREDITORS AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 28. ERNRERENER
(In HK$°000) (LB FLBEN) 2018 2017

Amounts payable arising from the ordinary HBE£BzE5REESS

course of business of dealing in JE 1~ 3008
securities and options:
— Cash clients —“Harp 70,291 84,028
- Hong Kong Securities Clearing —BAERREZFR A A
Company Limited 19,866 =
Amounts payable arising from the ordinary HEEXKZHEE4HX S
course of business of dealing in JE 1~ 3008
futures contracts:
- Clients -®F 3,711 4,225
Amounts payable arising from the ordinary HEEZBEZIREEATERE
course of business of provision of e 5RIA
securities margin financing:
- Clients -®F 11,021 6,489
Amounts payable arising from the BR¥BREEEBES
ordinary course of business of e 3B
dealing in precious metal 144 130
Accruals and other payables FE < 8 B I H 4 FE A 6,097 74,380
Rental and other deposits received HERHMEKEZESE 5,328 4,400
Rental received in advance BlES 161 264
116,619 117819116
The settlement term of cash client payables is two days after the ReREFPENFERRZAMKEEE -
trade date. Other payables are repayable on demand. The age of A EAFRREBANEE - LR IR

RR=THR-

these balances is within 30 days.
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

SHARE CAPITAL

29.

R

Number of shares

Share capital

ROHE [N
2018 2017 2018 2017
’000 '000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TR Tk FTHET FHT
Ordinary shares of BREE0IETZ
HK$0.01 each AR
Authorised: ETE
At the beginning of the year — F ] 10,000,000 3,000,000 100,000 30,000
Increase in authorised shares SRR AN 7 32 40 = 7,000,000 = 70,000
At the end of the year FRE 10,000,000 10,000,000 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRETRAR
At the beginning of the year  F#1& 2,682,316 1,341,158 26,824 13,412
Bonus issue BEITAR - 1,341,158 - 13,412
At the end of the year ERY 2,682,316 2,682,316 26,824 26,824
RESERVES 30. f#f&
The Group REE
Share  Contributed Capital ~ Translation Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve profits Total
(In HK$:000) (BB FTAZN) RiYEE EfRH BRGE Bt REET &5t
Balance as at 1 April, 2016 “E- FRA-RER 317,696 8,515 - (1,791) 1,811,036 2,135,456
Prafit for the year ERgH| - - - = 225,867 225,867
Other comprehensive expense FEEEBZART
for the year - - - (3,282) - (3,282)
Total comprehensive incomef(expense)  AEEREME/ (H%) 2%
for the year - - - (3,282) 225,867 222,585
Bonus issue BRTAR (13.412) = = = . (13.412)
Proposed final dividend REXBRS - - - - (48,282) (48,282)
Balance as at 31 March, 2017 and RZF-tE=A=+-AR
15 April, 2017 “E-+EMA-HEHR 304,284 8,515 - (5,073) 1,988,621 2,296,347
Profit for the year EREH - - - - 163,603 163,603
Other comprehensive expense AEEEMEARY
for the year - - - 4,954 - 4954
Total comprehensive income REE2ANGEE
for the year - - - 4954 163,603 168,557
Proposed final dividend RERERS = = = = (96,564) (96,564)
Balance as at 31 March, 2018 “E-\E=R=1-R&H 304,284 8,515 - (119) 2,055,660 2,368,340
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For the year ended 31* March 2018 &£ & — )\4E=H =+—H IL4EJF
30. RESERVES (Continued) 30. f&E (&)
The Company ¥ NUNE]
Share Contributed Retained
premium surplus profits Total
(In HK$'000) (LB FLAEN) R RE ENB& RE R @t
Balance as at 15t April, 2016 RZIZE-—R"ENA—B&H 314,371 8,515 5,427 328,313
Profit for the year FR & - - 107,732 107,732
Other comprehensive income AFEEEMZENRE
for the year - - - -
Total comprehensive income AEEEEUELE
for the year - - 107,732 107,732
Bonus issue BEITHK (13,412) = = (13,412)
Proposed final dividend BRRBRE - . (48,282) (48,282)
Balance as at 31st March, 2017 RZE—+EFE=R=+—-HN}
and 1%t April, 2017 2 FNA-BEH 300,959 8,515 64,877 374,351
Profit for the year FRmF - - 50,037 50,037
Other comprehensive income AEEEME2ENE
for the year - - - _
Total comprehensive income AEEEHEKEE
for the year - - 50,037 50,037
Proposed final and special dividend & K 2 1 45 5l % & = = (96,564) (96,564)
Balance as at 31t March, 2018 RZE-NF=ZA=+—H#&# 300,959 8,515 18,350 327,824

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group leases certain properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for a term for
one year (2017: one year).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had future
minimum lease payments in respect of land and buildings under
non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

(In HK$'000) (L EMTF T BEL)

31.

REHEERH

SER/EBA
AREREELHELHEAETOE -
BRELHEHEFHA—F(CT—LF:
e

REFEHR  AEERETAHE LR
BFEERETCARKEERNBASWT -

2018 2017

Within one year —ER

The Group as lessor

The Group leases certain properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms
ranging from one to twenty (2017: one to twenty) years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease rental receivables under non-cancellable operating
leases as follows:

1,007 976

SEAHEEA
AEERBELHETHERETHE -
BEEZVEREFHN T —ZE-+F (=%
—tF:—FEZFF) o

RBEHR  AEEREIAIHELEHR
ETZARRRERKESOT

(In HK$'000) (LB FTREN) 2018 2017
Within one year —F R 25,422 22,042
In the second to fifth years, inclusive REZFEEFRAFZA 34,487 22,189
More than five years HBBAF 6,534 8,633

66,443 52,864
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For the year ended 31" March 2018 #& % &2 — )\4E=H =+—H L4

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 32. HEMEBAR

On 315 March, 2018, the Group disposed of its subsidiary, Energy RZE-—NF=ZA=+—H A£ELE
Mark Limited to an independent third party for a consideration of HMBRAIZEBRARTELE=F
HK$3,450. HARER3 4508 °
(In HK$000) (LB F T BEN) 2018 2017
The net assets of Energy Mark Limited HEZEARAGNFEE -

disposed of:
Assets BE = -
Liabilities afE = =
Net assets FEE = =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEM B AR FTESE & F 3 =
Proceeds from disposal HEMBER 3 -
Satisfied by: Eff

Cash Ré 3 =

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BMERBEBALIRS

During the year, the Group had the following material transactions RAFE  AEBQEERRE A LTETHN

with its related parties: TZERRS :

Name of related party Nature of transactions Notes

BHALER RHME

(In HK$'000) (BT T REL) B & 2018 2017

UBA Investments Investment management fee (a) 2,446 2,468

Limited (“UBA”) REEHE

R EBR AR ([FAERE]) Performance fee (a) = 1,824
=AM E
Securities brokerage commission fee (b) 634 1,147
BHEELAE
Handling fee for dividend collection (c) 22 22
BREBKRFESE
Margin financing interest (d) 75 234
FREEMNE
Bullion dealing interest (e) - -

BESEBRHHE

Commodities brokerage

commission fee (f) - -
HERRBEER
Bullion commission (9) - -
EeERAE
Handling fee for bullion trading (h) - -
Storage fee for bullion (i) 6 6
EeEERE
Town Bright Industries Limited Rental expenses (i) 676 676
REBEEERAQA HeER%
Upbest Properties Company Limited Rental expenses (k) 84 84
EEMEBRAR HeR%
Champion Assets Limited Rental expenses () 60 60
HEERAF Mefx
Loong Cheong Limited Rental expenses (m) 156 156
EEBRAT HeR%
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

A subsidiary of the Company, Upbest Assets Management
Limited (“UAML") as investment manager, and UBA
Investments Limited (*“UBA”) had entered into Third
Investment Management Agreement dated 26" January,
2016 (“Third Investment Management Agreement”’) and
agreed that the investment management services provided
by UAML to UBA for a period of three years from 1t April,
2016 to 31t March, 2019. This agreement can be terminated
by either UAML or UBA serving not less than six months’
notice in writing prior to the expiration. Pursuant to the Third
Investment Management Agreement, monthly investment
management fee is receivable at 1.50% per annum of the
consolidated net asset value of UBA as at the immediately
preceding valuation date on the actual number of days in the
relevant calendar month over 365 days a year.

In addition to the above investment management fee, a
performance fee payable in Hong Kong dollars equivalent to
20% of net profit of UBA before taxation and before deduction
of the management fee payable under the investment
management agreements shall be paid to UAML for each
financial year.

The annual cap for the investment management fee and
performance fee for each of the financial years ending
31st March, 2017, 2018 and 2019 are HK$10,100,000
and HK$11,600,000 and 13,300,000 respectively. These
continuing connected transactions were approved at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 30"
March, 2016. The performance fee approximated HK$NIl
(2017: HK$1,824,000) due from UBA was included in trade
and other receivables, deposits and prepayments as at 31
March, 2018.

On 26" January, 2016, Upbest Securities Company Limited
(“USCL”) and UBA and two of its subsidiaries had separately
entered into Securities Brokerage Supplemental Agreements
for the transaction in relation to the securities brokerage
service and agreed that the original agreements were further
extended for a period of three years to 31t March, 2019.
Brokerage commission fee income is charged at 0.25%
(2017: 0.25%), the prevailing market rate, on the value of the
transactions.

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )

33. BEKBEBALRS (&)

(a)

(b)

RRBIZMBAREEEEERAA
(IZEER])  ARELE HRHHA
REEBRAR ([RAKRE])  -KR=T
—RNE—AZF+ BEIE=HEE
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TREREREERNFRBARERRZ
REEBERBEAP=FH_T—~F
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k-BEEF=MHEREEEHRZE FA
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BREMREEREN REEMBE
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B o
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(Continued)

It is expected that the annual brokerage commission will be
less than HK$3,000,000 per annum and that transactions
contemplated under the Securities Brokerage Supplemental
Agreements are considered to be a de minims transaction for
USCL pursuant to Rule 14A of the Listing Rule.

Handling fee for dividend collection is charged at minimum of
HK$30 or 0.50% per transaction amount.

Upbest Investment Company Limited (“UICL") with UBA and
two of its subsidiaries had separately entered into Financial
Assistance Supplemental Agreements in relation to the
provision of securities margin financing service. According to
the Fourth Supplemental Agreements, the respective relevant
original agreements were further extended for a period of
three years to 31 March, 2019. The agreement is subject
to renewal by written supplemental agreements between the
contracting parties. The securities margin financing services
interest rate is charged at 4.25% (2017: 4.25%) above prime
rate per annum inclusive of custodian fee; and the provision
of IPO financing at an interest rate from 0.20% to 1.50%
(2017: 0.20% to 1.50%) per annum above the borrowing costs
of UICL. Interest income for the securities margin accounts
was charged at 9.50% (2017: 9.50%) per annum.

A subsidiary of the Company, Upbest Gold and Silver Trading
Limited ("UGS”) entered into a Precious Metal Financial
Assistance Agreement with UBA Gold Investment Limited
(“UBA Gold”) in relation to the provision of precious metal
margin financing service for a period of three years from 1¢
April, 2016 to 31t March, 2019 by UGS to UBA Gold. The
agreement is subject to renewal by written supplemental
agreement between the contracting parties.

The interest rate for the precious metal financing service
was from 0.25% to 0.50% (2017: 0.25% to 0.50%) per annum
above the borrowing costs of UGS for call position. In respect
of put position, the interest rate would be 0.25% to 0.50%
(2017: 0.25% to 0.50%) per annum on top of the borrowing
cost of UGS (if any) provided that if UGS would receive
any interest from its supplier(s), UBA Gold may set off such
financing fee against the interest received by UGS from its
supplier(s). For avoidance of doubt, any remaining interest
received by UGS from its supplier(s) after such set-offs in
respect of such put position will be paid to UBA Gold.

33. BEKBEBALRS (&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(&)
HHEFELBeBAINER
3,000,000/ 7T - MAR{E LR A6
14AZE  HEEBBHFME  RIEES
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BAGREREKEHRS -

FEBBFEENRKERE BI0ET
UBERH L 20.50% °
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F=ZRA=1+—H -BREHIUER
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HEENERAZREE ZEERAMN
FEFIR0.20%E1.50% (- F—+ 4
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9.50%) °
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Investment Limited ([UBA Gold]) 5t
HERESRIEMTUBA GoldZz &S B
HEBERBKEIT T —HESBYK
B W HaAE=F HA=
T-R"FEFNA-HE-_ZE—NE=A
St B -ERRNEEM R RELT
Bt -

ECBARREGERBREEAY
ZHMEEXBSRIBEREALE
FEFIR0.25%F0.50% (- T —+ 4
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For the year ended 31* March 2018 # £ &

JSE=ZH=+—HILERE

33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(e)

(®)

(9

(h)

1)

(k)

(Continued)

For the year ended 31t March, 2018, interest for precious
metal dealing was charged at the range of 0.00% to 3.00%
(2017: 0.00% to 3.00%) per annum. No interest has been
charged for the year.

The annual cap regarding the securities and precious metal
margin financial assistance for each of the financial years
ending 31 March, 2017, 2018 and 2019 is HK$60,000,000.
These continuing connected transactions were approved at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
30" March, 2016.

Commodities brokerage commission is charged at a range
from HK$20 to HK$100 (2017: HK$20 to HK$100) per
transaction.

Precious metal commission is charged at a range from US$10
to US$250 (2017: US$10 to US$250) per transaction.

Handling fee for precious metal trading is charged at 0.25%
(2017: 0.25%) per transaction amount.

Storage fee for precious metal trading is charged at US$2
(2017: US$2) per day.

Two subsidiaries of the Company have respectively entered
into tenancy agreements with Town Bright Industries Limited
for one year, commencing from 1%t April, 2016. The tenancy
agreements were renewed to 31t March, 2018 on 1%t April,
2017. The tenancy agreements were further renewed for
twelve months, commencing from 1t April, 2018. (note)

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy
agreement with Upbest Properties Company Limited for
one year, commencing from 1%t April, 2016. The tenancy
agreement has renewed to 31% March, 2018 on 1%t April,
2017. The tenancy agreement was further renewed for twelve
months, commencing from 1¢t April, 2018. (note)

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

33. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

U]

(m)

(n)

(o)

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy
agreement with Champion Assets Limited for one year,
commencing from 1t April, 2016. The tenancy agreement
has renewed to 315t March, 2018 on 1t April, 2017. The
tenancy agreement was further renewed for twelve months,
commencing from 18t April, 2018. (note)

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy
agreement with Loong Cheong Limited for one year,
commencing from 1t April, 2016. The tenancy agreement
has renewed to 31t March, 2018 on 1%t April, 2017. The
tenancy agreement was further renewed for twelve months,
commencing from 1%t April, 2018. (note)

Note:

As at the latest practicable date, CCAA Group Limited
(“CCAA”) holds approximately 74.29% interest in Upbest
Group Limited (“Upbest”). Fung Fai Growth Limited (“Fung
Fai”) holds approximately 32.08% of UBA. The ultimate
beneficial owner of CCAA and Fung Fai is Cheng’s Family
Trust. Interested beneficiaries of the Cheng’s Family Trust
include Mr. CHENG Kai Ming, Charles, Ms. CHENG Wai
Ling, Annie (“Ms. Cheng”) and Mr. CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew
(“Mr. Cheng”). Ms. Cheng and Mr. Cheng are directors of
Upbest. Mr. Cheng is also a director of UBA. Moreover,
UAML, the investment manager of UBA, is regarded as a
connected person of UBA under Rule 14A.08 of the Listing
Rules.

Mr. CHENG Kai Ming, Charles, the father of Ms. Cheng and
Mr. Cheng, has beneficial interests in Town Bright Industries
Limited, Upbest Properties Company Limited, Champion
Assets Limited and Loong Cheong Limited.

Details of the balances with related parties and ultimate
holding company are fully disclosed in notes 26 and 27.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year are disclosed in note 10.

The above transactions were carried out in the normal course
of the Group’s business on terms mutually agreed between the
parties.

33. BEKBEBALRS (&)

U)

(m)

(n)

(o)
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For the year ended 31* March 2018 # £ &

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 4. GHRERERMNER

FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities are

reconciled as follows:

JSE=ZH=+—HILERE

BERHELNBEZ(CHENOT

Borrowings
(In HK$'000) (LB TF T BEL) e
At 15t April, 2017 RZE—+FMA—A 2,689
New bank loans raised IRTTER 35,000
Repayment of bank loans RITETEER (10,000)
Other change H i &
Changes from operating cash flows RERERNENEE 420
At 315t March, 2017 and 1t April, 2017 R-_ZE—+F=A=1+—H
k—Z—tFMA—H 28,109
Repayment of bank loans RITEHEER (25,000)
Other change Hih &
Changes from operating cash flows RERGMENEE) 490
At 315t March, 2018 RZZE-\F=A=+—H 3,599
35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35. HAREE
(In HK$'000) (LB Tt REN) 2018 2017
Guarantees given by the company and AR RENBAR BB
its subsidiaries to financial institutions T4 T U B ER
in respect of facilities granted to UBEEE
independent third parties 3,000 4,000
Guarantees given by the Company to RARBEKBRRGL T
financial institutions in respect of BEERUDRSGEE
facilities granted to subsidiaries 152,000 172,000

At the end of the reporting period, the directors do not consider it
probable that a claim will be made against the Group under any of

the guarantees.

Of the above guarantees, the amount utilized by the subsidiaries
at 31% March, 2018 is approximately HK$Nil (2017: approximately

HK$26 million).

The Company has not recognised any deferred income in respect
of these guarantees as its fair value cannot be reliably measured

ARESIERE -

26,000,000/ 7T) °

REEHRE EFTRRAEERER

LRER BR-F-AFZASt-
BERZEENTAR (CF—LF B

MR SRR AFERUEELHER
BRHEERTAT(ZF— L T

and its transaction price was HK$Nil (2017: HK$Nil). ) ARARRIRA R ERER M

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

36. ADAMPBARR K

(In HK$°000) (L BEBTFTREN) 2018 2017

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBERE

Interests in subsidiaries N IIEPNEIA - E 401,409 449,648

CURRENT ASSETS RBEE

Dividends receivable U B B 50,000 -

Prepayments B HIE - 2

Bank balances and cash BITEBRRRSE 130 129
B 00 31

CURRENT LIABILITIES nBAE

Accrued expenses er~EgR o @ 322

NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) RBEE/ (BF) FE 49,803 (191)

NET ASSETS BEFME 451,212 449,457

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRKG#E

Share capital N 26,824 26,824

Reserves (note 30) & (M5E30) 327,824 374,351

Proposed dividend BRI 2 96,564 48,282

451,212 449 457

ARRINMFBRRREEETEN TN
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25" June, FRAZTRAAEREEZLRAT
2018. EERREZ -

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved

CHENG Wai Lun, Andrew CHENG Wai Ling, Annie
BEfR BER

Executive Director Executive Director

HITEF HITEF
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

37. SUBSIDIARIES 37. BT
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31t March, 2018 are as RZE-NF=A=+—H AR 8HA
PRNLENGE

follows:

Percentage of

Principal interest Issued and fully

Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary

Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital

BRETRAR

WEAEER MRS  TEEXHE  SERRESM ITEEH EERRA

Upbest Financial Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1

ABARARS B RERR (E

Upbest Land Company Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1

ABARARS &b REHER (E

Citybest Management Limited British Virgin Islands Macau 100% Investment holding US$1

ABARARS 2P REER (E

Companhia De Desenvolvimento E Macau Macau 100%  Property investment MQOP25,000

Fomento Predial Si Wan Limitada

KEEXERERATA R P nERE 25,000%F9 7T

Gold-Face Finance Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Money lending HK$28,000,004

HRBBERAT B & BEFB®E 28,000,004 7

Good Foundation Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Investment holding HK$10,000

REERAA BB & REZR 10,0007 7

Good Profit Development Limited Samoa Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1

wMERERAA EET N REAR (E

Great Luck Consultants Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Inactive US$50,000

REERERAA ABARAES &b TREED 50,000% T

King Standard International British Virgin Macau 100% Property US$1
Limited Islands holding

ARERBES A WERR Ey

Marco Tech Limited British Virgin Hong Kong 100% Investment Us$2
Islands holding

AEARARS &k REER 2ET

UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (3¢ #t 48 Wl 4 W 2 )
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

37. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. BAT (&)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31t March, 2018 are as RZE-NF=A=+—H KR TAKA
follows: (Continued) ATHBAR : (&)

Percentage of

Principal interest Issued and fully
Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital
BRIRAE
MEBLRERE MR  TEEEMHE  KERRESM TEXH ZERRE
Mei Tou Real Estate Company Limited Macau Macau 100%  Property investment MOP25,000
XEEXERAA B & NERE 25,0008 1T
Mei Wo Company Limited Macau Macau 100%  Property investment MOP25,000
ZNBRAF R L3 NERE 25,000%F1 7T
Perfect Result Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1
REREBRAH ABARARS &b REHER [EY
Profit Up Development Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 70%  Project and property HK$10
management
BREEARDA B BE BERNEER 1087
Upbest Assets Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100%  Assets management HK$600,000
RREEARAA R A EEER 600,000/ T
Upbest Bullion Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Precious HK$11,000,000
metal dealing
XREXARATA i i ESBEE  11,000,0008 7
Upbest Commodities Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Futures dealing HK$10,000,000
Limited
XRBSERRA Bk &b HEEE  10,000,000%7
Upbest Credit and Mortgage Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Inactive HK$2
REEEREBERAT Bk &k EREED 28T
Upbest Cyber Trade Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Inactive HK$2
Limited
FRETHERRAT & &b IREED 28T
Upbest Hong Kong Land British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1
Company Limited
ABERBES &b REBR Ey
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % —&— )\4E=H =+ — HIL4ESE

37. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37. BAT (#&)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31t March, 2018 are as RZE-NF=A=+—H AR 8HA
follows: (Continued) ATHBAR : (&)

Percentage of

Principal interest Issued and fully
Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital
RELE
WEAEEH MRS  TEEXHE  SERRESM TEEH EERRA
Upbest Investment Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Securities HK$40,000,000
margin financing  (2017:$35,000,000)
FRREARAA B N BHARBE 40,000,000/ 7
(ZF—t%:
35,000,000 7T
Upbest Macau Land Company British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1
Limited
XRRFEXERAF ABARAERS B RERR [EYH
Upbest Online Securities Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Inactive HK$5,000,000
FRELESARATA B B ERELED 5,000,000
Upbest Strategic Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Investment HK$5,002
Limited holding
FREBERAT R &k REER 5,002 T
Upbest Securities Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Securities dealing HK$10,000,000
and broking
XREFARAA i i BHERHRERL 10,000,000 T
Peals International Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Investment holding US$1
YIRARERAR ERERBES &t REER 1%
Maiyon Investment Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Inactive HK$35,000
REREBRAA &k &t IRELD 35,000%
Peace Gain Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 55% Investment holding US$100
ERERBES &t REER 100% 7T
Christian Faith Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 55%  Property investment HK$1
&k &t NERE 18T

134 UPBEST GROUP LIMITED (36 &t 45 M 45 Wt 2 )
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For the year ended 31% March 2018 #& % & — )\4F=H =+ — HIL4ESE

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March, 2018 are as
follows: (Continued)

37. WEBAR (&)
RZE-NF=A=+—H KR TAKA
WTHEBAR : (&)

Percentage of

Principal interest Issued and fully

Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary

Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital

BETRER

MEBARERE AR  TEEEHE  SERRESM TEXH ZERRA

Bible Workshop Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 55% Inactive HK$1

i &b ERELED 1AL

Upbest Gold & Silver Trading Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Precious HK$10,000
metal dealing

FReREFARAT i &b ESEEE 10,000/ 7

Mega Benefit International Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong 100% Inactive US$1

ABARRES &b IREED E

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital outstanding at the
end of the reporting period or at any time during the year.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures in consolidated statement of cash flow
have been reclassified to conform with current year’s presentation.

RFEMRERFENEMTRE - AN
BRAGERFEZEAMLER -

38. EBHF
BEREZEZIH -8 ETREGEAES
RBREIZHBBRFEETHE

i

o
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SCHEDULE OF PROPERTIES

¥ = K X

(1) INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AS AT 315" MARCH, 2018

(1) R=ZB-NF=ZB=+-HZREYX

Approximate

Percentage of the

Description Usage gross floor area Status  Group’s interest
KEBFE
EE T Bz BHREAER R BEBDL
(square feet)
(FER) %
(a) Macau Commercial 105,000 Rental 100
& ki iR
51 Various car parking spaces and
the whole of the ground floor and
1st Floor of Chino Plaza, located
in Baia Sul Do Bairro Fai Chi Kei,
Lote PS2 Macau
PRI F E B EPS2H B 2
EMES  BES AR -
WTER—E2E
(b) Macau Residential/ 11,492 Rental 100
B Commercial fnfié|
Ex/®A
1 piece of land at
Nossa Senhora Do Camo,
Taipa, Macau with
a two-story restaurant
URNRM K EEER
ez Bt
E-EMERREEEZEEY
(2) PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AS AT 3157 2) RZBE-NF=ZA=+-HzEHF%ERE
MARCH, 2018 VES
Stage of
Percentage development
of the Estimated as at
Approximate Group’s  completion 31t March,
Description Usage site area interest date 2018
X&E R-ZZ-N\%
Bagm Frib s Bit =ZA=t-H
EE R#& BER BAk THAE  ZERER
(square feet)
(FAR) %
(a) Hong Kong Government, 9,147 55 N/A  Vacant land
% Institution or TER EETH
Community

2 pieces of land at

Tseung Kwan O

Declaimation

District Number 248

AL &8 1§ EIR248(E ) T 4
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UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
(RE KL BHRAFA)

2nd Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre
300 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong"

Tel: 852 2545 3298

Website: ‘www.upbest.com

EEEEHES300%
EREERL 218

TR 852 2545 3298
#3k: www.upbest.com
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